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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board of directors (the "board”) of Chinese People
Gas Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”), I have pleasure to present to the Shareholders the Group's
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2006.

INDUSTRY REVIEW

According to the 2005 National Economy and Social Development
Statistics published by the China National Statistics Bureau, China's
economy continued to maintain a sustained, stable, high speed growth
in 2005. Its GDP for the year reached RMB18.2 trillion (equivalent to
HK$17.6 trillion), representing an increase of 9.9% over last year; the
per capita annual disposable income in urban areas amounted to
RMB10,493 (equivalent to HK$10,138), representing an increase of
9.6% over last year. The total energy consumption for the whole year
amounted to 2.22 billion tons of standard coal, representing an increase
of 9.5% over last year. Among which, coal consumption was 2.14 billion
tons, representing an increase of 10.6%; crude oil consumption was
0.3 billion tons, representing an increase of 2.1%; natural gas
consumption was 50 billion cubic meters, representing an increase of
20.6%. This indicated that China’s rapid economic growth has driven
the increase in demand of natural gas consumption, and consumption
of natural gas has grown much faster than other energy consumption
and the national economy.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETEHRE

INDUSTRY REVIEW (Continued) T4 EI8R ()

However, in recent years, the adjustment of domestic natural gas price SN AT SF SRAR ST PO BUBR =T ERREm E AN
in China substantially lagged behind the continually rising international RARE  PEBARARERAELEE
oil price and natural gas price, and domestic natural gas price was just HiE - BINARAREBREEENEERERAR
equal to around 40% of the average international natural gas price. At FHERD40%0LH - _ETHFES
the end of 2005, National Development and Reform Commission XERNEZE R F(ARERLIEZHRN
(NDRC) issued the “Notice of NDRC in Relation to Reform the Formation MR RIAR L BRES A 3l BRE & 12
Mechanism of Natural Gas Factory Price and Appropriately Raise Natural BARAARLMEREBA) - RERERAR
Gas Ex-factory Price in the Near Term". According to the notice, it decided BT EE  WE—FPRBERERE &
to reform the formation mechanism of natural gas price in order to HIREAARER - BIREATEREEIRNE
further standardize price management; to gradually raise natural gas REFR - B2 Er B RER A BE AR
price, to make it clearer the relationship with the price of alternative AEEE  WREBZETRF A=+
energy, and to establish a mechanism of linking with the price of NEREZHSENEERSRAARLHKE
alternative energy and dynamic adjustment. It also decided to B TERBTMERRARARHBRERETT
appropriately raise natural gas ex-factory price throughout the country MR ERARBS0E1507T (Fra 408
starting from 26 December 2005, with the ex-factory price of natural 48.3%214497) ' (LIEAERAXRARES
gas used for industrial and city fuel gas rose RMB50 to RMB150 R¥50F1007T (rakEH48.3596.6
(equivalent to HK$48.3 to 144.9) Km cubic and the ex-factory price of 70 FRIBE10%A A © EePEE—N
natural gas used for chemical fertilizer production rose RMB50 to NAEFLRERERARLEBERIERAIE
RMB100 (equivalent to HK$48.3 to 96.6), representing an average ERAE - FRAREREBRBNBUNTEE
increase of about 10%. This is the first time since 1997 for the PRC to MEAESEEEE - HNERIRARER
adjust the natural gas ex-factory price remarkably, resulting in natural Lo - B RIEERREEREERTIIER
gas price shifted from strictly government designated pricing to EEH30%Z50%A A - Fit - RRAARE
government guided pricing. Since the current natural gas price is about BANEBA LRz -

30% to 50% lower than the average price of alternative energy such as

coal, electricity, liquefied petroleum gas, there is still great room for

natural gas price to increase.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

INDUSTRY REVIEW (Continued)

In March 2006, the “11th Five-Year Plan for Economic and Social
Development of the People’s Republic of China” was passed in the 4th
Conference of the 10th National People's Congress. For the area of
petroleum and natural gas, it is stated that the effort for exploration of
petroleum and natural gas resources should be strengthened and the subject
of oil & gas exploration should be diversified; to implement the parallel
development of oil and gas in order to increase crude oil output steadily
and increase natural gas production; to strengthen cooperation with overseas
partners in the area of development and construct offshore imported
liquefied petroleum gas project in an appropriate manner; and to expand
and establish new national oil reserve bases to strengthen national oil
strategic reserve capability. In the next five years, China will expedite the
planning and construction of oil & gas main pipeline network and ancillary
facilities, gradually improve oil & gas pipeline network across the nation,
and construct a second west to east natural gas transmission pipeline and
land-way imported oil & gas pipeline in due course. With these policy-
oriented measures, it is expected that China’s oil & gas resources
development and urban natural gas industry will grow rapidly in the future.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board of the Company, | sincerely thank all shareholders
and various social organizations for their support to the group over the

year.

Liu Jing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 1 September 2006
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWmED

BUSINESS REVIEW

2006 financial year is very important to the development history of the
Group. The Group has completed the business reorganization and
change in directors and management team successfully during the year.
The Group has been principally engaging in piped natural gas distribution,
supply and installation businesses in PRC during the year. With the joint
effort of the directors, management and the all staff, the Group has
achieved satisfactory results during the financial year and made a good
start.

This year, the Group recorded turnover of HK$240,607,000, representing
an increase of 197% compared with last year;

Gross profit of HK$127,326,000, representing an increase of 177%
compared with last year;

Profit attributable to shareholders (excluding the change in the fair value
of convertible bonds) of HK$61,739,000, representing an increase of
303% compared with last year;

Basic loss per share of 2.13 HK cents; basic earnings per share of last
year was 0.61 HK cent.

Operating cash inflow before the change in operating capital reached
HK$112,178,000, representing a substantial increase of 203% over
last year;

Net cash flow generated by operating activities of HK15,956,000, net
outflow was HK$44,444,000 last year;

Net cash used in investment activities of HK$42,854,000, representing
an increase of 72% over last year;

Net cash generated by financing activities of HK$148,684,000,
representing an increase of 819 over last year;

Net cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year increased to
HK$132,986,000, representing an increase of 12.31 times over last
year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Distribution, Supply and Installation of Piped Natural Gas
Businesses

Distribution and Supply of Piped Natural Gas

The Group's main business is providing natural gas to households and
commercial and industrial customers through its gas pipeline networks,
and the Group's income mainly comes from sales of piped natural gas.
During this financial year, the Group achieved natural gas sales of 111.26
million cubic meters, of which 17.10 million cubic meters were sold to
households and 94.16 million cubic meters were sold to commercial
and industrial customers, realizing a gas sales income of HK$85,539,000,
an increase of 199% compared to last financial year. Income from
sales of natural gas accounted for 35.6% of the Group's turnover for
this financial year.

City gas has become a necessity during the process of urbanization in
the PRC. In addition, city gas is a public utility and is monopolistic in
nature. As the city gasification rate in which the Group is operating
continued to rise and new gas projects of the Group continued to
increase every year, sales of the Group’s piped natural gas will grow
steadily.

Piped Natural Gas Installation

The Group was also engaged in construction of main pipelines and
branch pipelines networks and through the construction of gas pipeline
networks to connect households with the gas networks and charge for
connection fee. Such fee is another major income source of the Group.
During this financial year, the Group has completed installation work for
50,544 households and 7,853 commercial and industrial customers,
generating an income from installation fees HK$129,271,000, an
increase of 210% compared with last financial year. Installation fees
income accounted for 53.7% of the Group's turnover for the financial
year.

As at 31 March 2006, the Group has accumulated a total of 80,443
connected customers, of which 71,746 were households and 8,697
were commercial and industrial customers.

The Group anticipates that installation fees will remain in force for some
time in the future before the gas price becomes absolutely market-
oriented. As the number of users of natural gas in the areas where the
Group is operating continued to increase and more new projects came
into operation every year, income from installation fees will continue to
be one of the most important income sources for the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWmED

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) ¥ ¥ EE (|

Distribution, Supply and Installation of Piped Natural Gas D HERTREERARER @
Businesses (Continued)

Development of Natural Gas Projects RARIEE #i®

During this financial year, the Group has acquired five piped natural gas TYMHREERN - AEEEWERREEBARA
projects, including: RIEE - PRlE

The Han Wang Project ERTIEE

On 31 July 2005, the Group acquired 100% interests in Mianzhu City RZZTRFLA=+—H F~EEWET
Han Wang Natural Gas Company Limited in Mianzhu City. The project MITMERERARERAR100%H)HEE °
is located in Han Wang Town, Mian Zhu City, Sichuan Province. Han ZIE BB R TR R o JREHEE
Wang Town is one of the first 57 pilot towns under the National Integrated 2R EHS7ERAERMEB L — A7
Reform Program and the key industrial zone of Mianzhu City. The famous MHERTER - PEERNTREEER
production base of steam turbine in China Dongfang Steam Turbine R T7 AR R A ORI 3H - B T AR
Works is located in Han Wang Town. Its industrial gas consumption and BIERFARRARARKRERNENY
household gas consumption of the workers residing in the industrial R ETEAIHERRAARADBEEZCS
area will be the major targets for our future development. Han Wang A BEE15.30% -

Town has a total connectable population of 60,000 and the gasification

rate is 15.3%.

The Bei Chuan Project 1E)13ER

On 31 July 2005, the Group acquired the natural gas assets in Beichuan RZEERFEA=+—H  AEBWET
County and established the Beichuan County Zhongmin Gas Company IENNBEHRAREEWK I GEFRER
Limited. Beichuan County is located in Mian Yang City in Sichuan Province BIRATR]  dIEA M) 1B BT - HE
and is in the northwest of Sichuan Basin. Enterprises engaged in building POl 23 PEIEER - B4 INITHFITERERZ
materials and processing industries are the major commercial and ENFEEEHRARTIEFEAF - Bit)I15
industrial users of natural gas in Beichuan County. Lei Gu Town, which e N EBHREIR - [EAERZRIGHIA008AFEY
is 8 kilometers from Beichuan's county town, is constructing an industrial T¥RR  BREZHSESMHMINE - KF

zone with an area of over 400 acres. The industrial zone is striving to BE - BMTEERIRRE R - TSN ER
introduce high value-added, low energy-consumption and technologically ARER o db)|FAl HERRARADE
advanced environmental friendly enterprises. These enterprises will drive ZE168BA - RILE5.50% °

the development of gas consumption in Beichuan County. The total
connectable population of Beichuan County is 160,000 and the
gasification rate is 5.5%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Distribution, Supply and Installation of Piped Natural Gas
Businesses (Continued)

Development of Natural Gas Projects (Continued)

The Tong Nan Project

On 1 August 2005, the Group acquired 100% interest in Chongging
Tong Nan Tongfa Gas Co. Ltd. and renamed it as Chongging Zhongmin
Gas Company Limited. Tong Nan County, which is located in the linked
terrain of Sichuan and Chonggqing, is the hometown of the Former
President of the PRC Mr. Yang Shang Kun. It is an important gateway for
Chongging to open to the outside world. The construction of a new city
of 10 square kilometers which lies in the north side of Fu River (/1)
in Tong Nan County has founded its basic structure. An attractive regional
industrial and economic zone that can bring about stimulating effect to
the region is under construction. As many of the industrial enterprises
in Chongging urban areas move into the zone, the gas demand from
industrial and commercial users and households will become higher.
The total connectable population of Tong Nan County is 920,000 and
the gasification rate is 6.7%.

The Fu Ping Project

On 5 August 2005, the Group acquired 80% interest in Fu Ping Natural
Gas Co. Ltd and renamed it as Fu Ping County Zhongmin Gas Company
Limited. Fu Ping County is under Weinan City and is the fourth largest
county in Shaanxi Province. The Zhuang Li Industrial Zone which is
located in the northwest of and 12 kilometers away from the county
town, is the foothold for the industrial development of Fu Ping County.
The gas connectable population of Fu Ping County is 200,000 and the
gasification rate is 3.3%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWmED

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) ¥ ¥ EE (|

Distribution, Supply and Installation of Piped Natural Gas o HERTREBERARER (@
Businesses (Continued)

Development of Natural Gas Projects (Continued) KARIEE R (&)
The Yongning Project KEIRE

On 24 August 2005, the Group acquired 50% interest in Yongning RZZEZRFN\AZ+HE  NEEWET
Boneng Natural Gas Co. Ltd. and renamed it as Yinchuan Zhongmin KEFZIBRERARAR QRS0 ER @ I
Gas Company Limited. Yongning County is a suburb county to the south BERRRIITRARERLDF - KEHK/E
of Yinchuan City, the provincial capital of Ningxia, and a satellite city of BEENR)ITrREBE % - 2RI TR E
Yinchuan City. Wang Yuan Town, which is approximately 10 kilometres ST - FEKEZHMIAILR10A B EERE
north to Yongning's county town, is constructing an industrial zone which FrEHE-ETEERE  EHEXPEDE
will become the largest production base of antibiotics in China as well DMRARM A REEEM o KEHMILE
as in Asia. A new town area of county is under construction in the north FEREFRBHIE - FEEXE - SFEKE
of Yongning County. The area of Yongning's county town will be enlarged BB EEEAR2/3 - BT A DL E
by 2/3 and the city population will increase by 30,000 upon completion. A o BEE K ERERR)ITEENMA B &
As the role of Yongning County as a satellite city of Yinchuan City becomes =i RRRARBRATRERM o KEZA
increasingly prominent, the future development of natural gas will be of HEBRRARADEEZE208A - BRIEX
great potential. The total gas connectable population of Yongning County 2.3 °

is 200,000 and the gasification rate is 2.3%.

With the above new natural gas projects, turnover and operating profit HARA FFTERARIER - AEEZ EX5
of the Group have increased significantly. The foundation of natural gas RS ERNAE TEELR - RAREBHER
business has been further solidified. As at 31 March 2006, together BUE—FRE -BE_ZTTRF=HA="
with the Mianzhu Project and the Yan Ting Project acquired in the last —B &R EMRERERE SRR K
financial year, the number of the Group's gas projects has increased to =IHE  AEBEZMRFIAEIRETE - XKE
seven, with business covering Sichuan Province, Chongqing, Shaanxi ZnG - EF  pEE - 2Eg0R B
Province and Ningxia Autonomous Region and a connectable population EZRARAIEBRALSA FMEFEN
of 2.65 million in this financial year, an increase of 139% when compared BAMERFBFEN2658A - ER
with 1.11 million in the last financial year. Income from sales of piped 139% o R EELEWM TR EBMRAHEE WA
gas and installation fees of these cities will continue to have a significant MEREBERASEERAEEXEELEE
contribution to the results of the Group. B

Property Holding and Investment NEBERRE

During the financial year, the Group has dwindled its property holding RUBREER - REBWHE TWERERE
and investment business. The Group has disposed its entire shareholding BER - HRIAREREE21,500,0007T
in its wholly owned subsidiary Billion Treasure Holdings Limited and its 113,480,000 HE T 2 & /& 2 FBillion
saleable properties in Zhongda Square in Shanghai City at cash Treasure Holdings Limited 2 2 & I I B
consideration of HK$21,500,000 and HK$13,480,000 respectively to EEMHEESHEN T HESYE - kE
recover cash for focusing on the development of gas projects. As at 31 ReUEFARNMENEENHRR -RN=F
March 2006, the Group owned 534 square meters of saleable properties ZRFZA=+—0  AEERAZENE
in Zhongda Square in Shanghai City through its wholly owned subsidiary REIREVEERARREAE LETHERS
Penmark Limited. During this financial year, this business contributed 534F AR Z A EEE o ZEERAES
turnover of HK$ 1,727,000 to the results of the Group. BEENAASE Y FEEFRAE,727,000

TLHYE R -
10
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Glass Products Business

The Group, through Mian Zhu City Hong Sen Natural Gas Co., Ltd.,
indirectly owned 70% interests in Mian Zhu City Hongsen Glass Products
Company Limited. The company is primarily engaged in supplying glass
products to the producer of the famous Chinese wine “Jian Nan Chun’,
using natural gas from the Group as fuel to produce glass products.
During this financial year, such business contributed turnover of
HK$24,070,000 and earnings of HK$4,069,000 to the results of the
Group.

Lottery Operating System Supply and Ancillary Services

In this financial year, the Group invested in the joint venture Zhongmin
Zai Xian (Beijing) Technology Development Limited (“Zhongmin Zai
Xian"). Zhongmin Zai Xian intends to be engaged in supplying operating
system of video welfare lottery business and ancillary services in the
Mainland China. Zhongmin Zai Xian has also established a joint venture
with Beijing Bei Ying Si Digital Technology Company Limited to engage
in traditional lottery operating system supply and ancillary services in
the PRC.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As at 31 March 2006, the Group had total assets of HK$496,268,000
and current liabilities, long term liabilities, shareholders’ equity and

minority interests of HK$216,212,000, HK$2,868,000, HK$272,475,000
and HK$4,713,000 respectively.

The Group continued to maintain a low gearing ratio, at 1%. It was
calculated based on the long term borrowings of HK$2,807,000 and
long term capital of HK$272,475,000.

11
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWmED

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued) B 5 EIRE (4R)
Liquidity and Capital Resources (Continued) RBESREFER ()

On 8 September 2005, the company and Equator View Capital, an RIZEZRFNANR  KAGEBIE=
independent third party entered into a subscription agreement with 73 Equator View Capital 3£ 81720,000,0005 7T
respect to issue of US$20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately (A& R 4978 155,600,0007T) R =T Z )\ F
HK$155,600,000) 2 per cent convertible bonds due in 2008 (the FHZ MERHRRE SR LR i ([R5
“Subscription Agreement"). Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, hal) o IRIBREEE 2 G - AHARES
the Bonds can be convertible into Shares at a conversion price equal to AR EERIE (B10.34337T) 2B IR
the lower of the Fixed Conversion Price (HK$0.3433) or the Floating B (ARIRERE) B ARG - RIFESFD
Conversion Price. Unless previously redeemed, converted or purchased WM - EsEEE Nt - BRIRAFH
and cancelled, the Bonds shall be redeemed by the Company at 100% RETRRE=ZAFKAIBRESRESREZ
of their principal amount at the third anniversary of the Issue Date. The 100% & Bl AT AR &% « AIMRESRE N =
Bonds were issued on 28 October 2005, bringing more funds to the TERFTAZTNBET  BRAFER
Company for acquisition of more projects, and further broadening the EZESNWBEELZIER - WE—FBEXRT
strategic investor base of the Company. As at 31 March 2006, the REERRKEEER - R RF=H

Company issued 201,989,000 Conversion Shares under the Bonds. =+—H @ RARAFREATRRESFEITHER
Outstanding principal amount under the Bonds was US$10,000,000 f&17201,989,0000% + AIAMR(ES HWARTTE
(equivalent to approximately HK$77,800,000). 2 K% F8/410,000,0003 70 (FHE R4S

77,800,0007T) ©

To comply with the new requirements of HKAS 39 and HKAS 32, the RIEB B S EREI5RMI2FAFIT -
convertible bonds are designated as “financial liability at fair value through ZAMBREFERERTEATEBELERA
profit and loss”, which is required to be calculated at fair value on each RESRIBE] - WAR B XERENSER
conversion date and balance sheet date after initial recognition, and BBEREER  BATERE  AHEZE
the change in fair value is directly recognized as profit or loss during the PEENELERANBRRER - "AFZ
period of its occurrence. There has been a remarkable increase of the ARER SRR B & F 4 BB ElE R E
Company's share price over the fixed convertible price (HK$0.3433 (BREK0.34337T) B A BETIE - ATk
per share) as at each of the conversion dates and the balance sheet AR B A FHER B 2 BEME L IRRE
date. The value of the converted shares calculated at the fair value as at BRI CHBRREAEZEE  SHEK
the conversion date is in excess of HK$62,212,000 over the value of 62,212,0007T © XIZELH 2 W B RS
the conversion price stated in the Subscription Agreement; and based ¥EO57TTETE - MR BRRESN AT EE
on the closing price of HK$0.57 per share at the balance sheet date, F+ T A#55,588,0000T ¢ At - IRiEEE
the fair value of the outstanding convertible bonds has increased by TR E B E)EEEN117,800,0007T5T A
HK$55,588,000. Accordingly, the aggregate change amounting to THREZFaBRET - A TFEENGELS
HK$117,800,000 is included in the profit and loss account for this period REAFHENREARTEER GRS
according to the relevant accounting standards. The valuation result of B mEAEENEE LSRR MBS
the fair value is related to the share price at the assessment date and B 0 TEREREESENKENER
the remaining period of the convertible bonds, but does not concern WEM o RIBBELHEHBHEEL - REE
the actual operating and financial positions of the Group, as well as the B AZ+XAERBRFTRNUTETRE
future changes in the Group's operations and actual cash flows. According ¥03457TAtE - MBARIRESH A TFER
to the valuation by an independent valuation institution, based on the EB192,212,0007T © L FHEBRHAFEE
Company's share closing price of HK$0.345 per share as at 26 July, the KR P& T #%41,576,0007T + IRAEELE
fair value of the outstanding convertible bonds amounts to 8 - WEBHEFXALAREE TFE I
HK$92,212,000, representing a significant decrease of HK$41,576,000 e

over the fair value at the balance sheet date. According to the relevant

requirements, the change in number can also be included as the Group’s

income next year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Liquidity and Capital Resources (Continued)

The fair value of the outstanding convertible bonds at the balance sheet
date $133,788,000 is based on the assumption that the Company
early redeems the outstanding convertible bonds from the holders of
the convertible bonds and therefore needs to pay for its fair consideration.
Since the Company has no right, plan or need to early redeem the
outstanding convertible bonds from the holders of the convertible bonds
at the above fair consideration, and the holders of the convertible bonds
also have no right to demand the Company to early redeem the
outstanding convertible bonds at the above fair consideration (except
under certain special circumstances that the Company may redeem
part of, or all convertible bonds at a consideration close to the nominal
value of the convertible bonds), ultimately the outstanding convertible
bonds may only be exercised or not exercised when due, or partially
exercised and partially not exercised when due. If the convertible bonds
are exercised, the Company only needs to issue a certain number of
shares of the Company to the holders of the convertible bonds at the
convertible price under the subscription agreement and no cash is
required for settlement. If the convertible bonds are not exercised when
due, the Company is only required to redeem the convertible bonds at
100% of its nominal value according to the subscription agreement.
Therefore, the fair value change of the convertible bonds stated in the
Consolidated Income Statement for the year is only an accounting
treatment made in accordance with the requirements of the Hong Kong
accounting standards and will not actually affect the current and future
actual operations and cash flows of the Group.

The Group has been applying for the change of registration to foreign
investment enterprises for its various subsidiaries so as to enjoy the tax
allowances benefits for foreign-invested enterprises under the relevant
policy. Assuming that all registrations are successfully changed, it is
estimated the Group will enjoy an allowance from the income tax accrued
for this year amounting to not less than HK$6,600,000.

Capital Structure
The Group's long-term capital mainly comprises shareholders’ equity

which is confirmed by the low gearing ratio as discussed in the section
“Liquidity and capital resources” above.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWmED

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued) AR )
Exposure of Foreign Exchange Fluctuation SNER B L%

The Group's receivables and payables are denominated mainly in US REE BN R ENRREZUET BT
dollar, Hong Kong dollar and Renminbi. Since Hong Kong dollar is pegged RAREREAL - APVBTHEETES - &
to US dollar and exchange rate of Renminbi is relatively stable, the ARBZIEXBHIZTE EFRAREN AR

directors considers the foreign exchange exposure risk not significant. W AERX °
Capital Commitments BEREE

On 31 March 2006, the Group entered into an Equity Transfer Contract RZTERNF=ZA=1+—H8  AEBEFZK
whereby the Group agreed to acquire a 51% equity interest in Wei Nan REESL  BUAEERZRBRMmMT
City Natural Gas Company C& R T AR A A)) from Wei Nan City FANR([ERDBABEMAARARAT
Development Company (“Vendor") at a provisional consideration of Z 510 - EERER/AR33,000,000
RMB33,000,000 (approximately HK$31,942,697), which is subject to JC (#978%31,942,6977T) © AI{EHETH
certain adjustments. The vendor will also procure that the Group will B o B MR AN E EEUS B F TN H
obtain the exclusive right to operate the business of supplying natural BIRPEE K L RARMIE < BETEAAA
gas within the city of Wei Nan in Shaanxi Province, the PRC. Weinan O#45318 A BRI3BFHIRAR  —ZT%
City currently has a population of approximately 5.31 million and an RERMEEREZEAREI 2B BER
area of 13,000 square kilometers. Its GDP in 2005 amounted to AEWI02ETT) - WM EFIER11.7% - BEE
RMB31.2 billion (equivalent to approximately HK$30.2 billion), an EMLENER - KRBT AARARERE
increase of 11.7% from last year. As local economy continues to grow, NER - BEMAARAGEREELER
development of natural gas in Weinan City has great potential in the EERB R (MEBATATEL ) AT HE R RARA
future. The total gas connectable population of Linwei District (where DESES8E A - L ¥ES.1% - REL AR
the municipal government is situated), the major operating area of BEX e AR 1,000,000 (45K
Weinan Natural Gas Company is 880,000 and the gasification rate is 967,9617T) °

5.1%. Deposit of RMB1,000,000 (approximately HK$967,961) had

been paid before year end date.

Contingent Liabilities HREE

As at 31 March 20086, there were no material contingent liabilities to RIZEERF=A=+—H0 FEELESE

the Group. REREE -
Trading of Shares on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange BN ERRBRESRZER

On 24 February 2006, the shares of the Company were admitted to REZBZRF-AZFHA - AREIRDE
the Open Market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (Freiverkehr). This MAZHRRRBEFRRXRSMARMS
potentially enhanced the liquidity of the shares of the Company, broaden ([Freiverkehr]) EE - b A BIFMER R RIARGD
shareholder base and enhanced the recognition of the Company in the ZBE ~ EAMREEN RIEMNARA FRE
international financial market. Bemms s MEE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

POST BALANCE SHEET DATE EVENTS

On 28 April 2006, the Company entered into an agreement with Deson
Ventures Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
for the disposal of Penmark Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Pursuant to the terms of Agreement, Deson Ventures Limited
will pay HK$6,500,000 as consideration and the Company has assigned
the indebtedness owed by Penmark Limited in the aggregate amount
of HK$7,806,848.33 to the Deson Ventures Limited. This resulted in a
loss on disposal of HK$171,000.

On 30 May 2006, the Company and Indopark Holdings Limited, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Merrill Lynch, entered into a
subscription agreement, with respect to the issue of US$40,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$310,000,000) 2 per cent convertible
bonds due in 2009 (the “Subscription Agreement"). Pursuant to the
terms of the agreement, the Bonds can be converted into Shares at a
conversion price of HK$0.60 (adjustable). Unless previously redeemed,
converted or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds shall be redeemed
by the Company at 106% of their principal amount at the third
anniversary of the Issue Date. The Bonds bear interest from the Issue
Date at the rate of 2% per annum of the principal amount of the Bonds.
The Bonds were issued on 15 June 2006, bringing more funds to the
Company for the development of new projects, and further broadening
the strategic investor base of the Company. It further indicates that
achievement attained by the Group after business transformation was
recognized by the international investment banks and they have great
confidence to the future of the Group.

On 1 June 2006, the Company entered into an Equity Transfer Contract
whereby the Company agreed to acquire a 50% equity associate interest
in Yan Bian Hua Xin Qil Exploitation Company Limited at a consideration
of HK$30,000,000.

Yan Bian Hua Oil Exploitation Company Limited is engaged in the
exploration and extraction of oil and gas in the Yanji Basin located in the
Yan Bian Korean Nation Autonomous Area in Jilin Province, the PRC in
cooperation with Daging Oilfield Company. Details of the term of the
Agreement was set out in the announcement dated 1 June 2006 issued
by the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWmED

POST BALANCE SHEET DATE EVENTS (Continued) REREEE @)

Because the legal procedures of completing the acquisition are not yet MR TERIEE O ERIEFRAZRE - BIRE
finalised, management is still in the progress of gathering accounting BIERE S EHABERG S M BHRER
information to determine the effect of business combination on the FEBastowE -

consolidated financial statements.

Yanji Basin covers an area of 403 sq. km. with rich oil and natural gas I RHHAFAEREE403 T A RE - AH
reserves. The total volume of ol reserves in the basin is estimated at 50 AARBRHEEE - BRERTEHILT
million tons during the second resources evaluation for the basin and it HAMETE 2 FHEL0SENE - AR MARSE
is estimated at 121.6 million tons using the basin analog method for ETRIEREN1 216180 - ZYLSHEESRE
calculation. In addition, it is initially confirmed that natural gas reserves (& ATHRAZ 2 RANRIHE R 10ES0BM 7K o
to be submitted were around 1 billion to 5 billion cubic meters in the

contract area.

On 8 June 2006, the Group entered into an Equity Transfer Contract RZZETRFANANR - REBEFTZREE
whereby the Group agreed to acquire a 70% equity interest in a natural FEEK  BUAKBERZWEEATTHAR
gas business at Yanliang District, Xian at a consideration of BRARERT70% M  RE/ARK
RMB42,500,000 (HK$41,062,802) and formation of new joint venture 42,500,0007T (B#41,062,8027T) ML —
company. Because the legal procedures of completing the acquisition BETE 2 AR o AR 2 E2EFH
is not yet finalised, management is still in the progress of gathering ﬂi”? ERERNEREEAERNAEE
accounting information to determine the effect of business combination RFEMBRER FEBEH2TE -

on the consolidated financial statements.

The new JV Company will engage in the sales distribution of natural MeeRnrEFEXNFERAEATTER R
gas, design of gas pipeline and related maintenance in the Yanliang MERAREERDHE - RAREERT K

District, Xian, Shaanxi province, the PRC. Details of the term of the 7@%@2?\(&{@‘ o BRIEFFFBHN AR ZE
Agreement was set out in the circular dated 3 July 2006 issued by the TRFLA=ANEZE
Company.

Yanliang District of Xian City is an aviation industrial city in the PRC, with ALmERERREMZETERT - BAX
a total of approximately 240,000 residents. It is an integrated aviation A48 A - BHEISREERIAR - £ER
base comprising aircraft design and manufacturing, pilot flight testing & AREEMRAHBR B IMETLER
and scientific research and training. The largest aircraft manufacturer in it - RAE 2 BEIRARMEE PR LR
the PRC, Xian Aircraft Industry (Group) Co. Ltd. and many other *%I%(E@)ﬁﬁﬁffiﬁﬁ&%%&\%ﬂﬂ
enterprises and scientific research institutions are located in the district. Wb o —ETMENA - BRBERBESR
In August 2004, the National Development and Reform Commission BT mERRRE Zﬂﬁ}l £ i i
of the PRC approved the establishment of Yanliang District as the national EFEEM - REEBNA0T LR - BHbK
aviation high-tech industry base, covering an area of approximately 40 A =& TR E 2R %EE/)HI:E’
square kilometers. The local government intends to take three to five A= E AN -

years to build the base as one of the biggest aviation industry region in

Asia.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

POST BALANCE SHEET DATE EVENTS (Continued)

On 18 July 2006, the Group entered an agreement with Tong Xin Energy
whereby the parties agreed to form a Joint Venture Company in Huaihua
City of Hunan province in the PRC. The registered capital of the Joint
Venture Company is RMB18,180,000 (approximately HK$17,650,485)
of which a 55% and a 45% equity interest will be held by the Group
and Tong Xin Energy respectively. After the formation of the JV Company,
it will principally engage in the business of installation and supply of
natural gas and the sell of liquefied petroleum gas in Huaihua City of
Hunan province in the PRC.

Because the legal procedures of completing the acquisition are not yet
finalised, management is still in the progress of gathering accounting
information to determine the effect of business combination on the
consolidated financial statements.

The location of Huaihua City of Hunan Province is near the borders of
Hunan, Guangxi and Guizhou provinces, making it an important traffic
hub and logistics centre in the central region of the PRC. Huaihua City
has a total population of 5.1 million with approximately 400,000 located
in the urban area.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2006, the Group had 518 employees, of which 514
were based in the PRC.

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are
reviewed and approved by the directors after consulting the
Remuneration Committee. Apart from pension funds, individual
employees may be granted discretionary bonus and share options as
rewards for their outstanding performance.

REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL RESULTS

The Group's annual results for the year ended 31 March 2006 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Company and audited
by the Company’s auditors, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWmED

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year.

PROSPECTS

Distribution, Supply and Installation of Piped Natural Gas
Business

It is expected that China's economy will maintain a constant, stable and
rapid growth, and the pace of industrialization, modernization,
urbanization, marketization and internationalization will speed up further.
Industrialization, urbanization and upgrade in the consumption structure
of urban and rural residents is one of the main factors which promote
China’s economy to grow constantly and drive the consumption of
energies such as petroleum and natural gas to grow. According to the
2005 National Economy and Social Development Statistics, the
population of the mainland China in 2005 was 1.3 billion, urban
population increased to 0.56 billion, and the ratio of urbanization rose
to 439%. Pursuant to global urbanization development practices, once
the urbanization ratio of a country is above 30%, its urbanization will
enter into an accelerating development period. It is anticipated that
China's population will reach 1.46 billion in 2020, and the urbanization
ratio will be about 60%, and China's urbanized population will increase
by more than 0.3 billion in next fifteen years. The increase in urban
population will maintain a long term strong demand for infrastructure
construction and investment including city gas, which, especially natural
gas has become a sign of the urbanization of a region and an
improvement in living quality of urban residents.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECTS (Continued)

Distribution, Supply and Installation of Piped Natural Gas
Business (Continued)

The Chinese government recently put forward a sustainable development
strategy and put great emphasis on environment protection. It actively
supports and encourages residents and industrial and commercial
enterprises to use natural gas, to satisfy a strong demand for energy
consumption driven by economic growth, make up for the shortage of
petroleum supply and reduce environment pollution resulting from
burning coal. Natural gas is featured by safety, high efficiency,
environment protection and low price. It increasingly becomes the best
clean energy to reduce the environment pollution and make up for the
shortage of petroleum supply in the twenty-first century. With the steady
growth of the China’s economy, the continual increase in per capita
national income, and the constant rise in urbanization and
industrialization level and the continuous improvement in environment
protection standard, natural gas will gradually replace coal and petroleum
as the main energy used by Chinese urban residents and industrial and
commercial enterprises. According to the data of Organization of the
Petroleum Exporting Countries, in the current world energy consumption
structure, natural gas accounts for approximately 21%. By 2025, this
percentage will rise to approximately 30%. According to the forecast
from Energy Study Institute of State Development and Reform
Commission, the growth rate of the demand for natural gas in China
will obviously outpace that of coal and petroleum in the next 20 years.
By 2010, consumption of natural gas as a percentage of one-off
consumed energy will increase to approximately 6%, and to further
approximately 10% by 2020. The demand for natural gas will reach
93.8 billion cubic meters and 203.7 billion cubic meters respectively
by that time. Therefore, there is a huge room for market development
for natural gas business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWmED

PROSPECTS (Continued) MRERE (|
Exploitation of Petroleum and Natural Gas Resources Business AHRRARE R R

The constant and rapid economic growth of China in recent years has BT FRAERE « RIRIER - WARRR

sustained a strong demand for energy including petroleum and natural AARERREBRYNTR - ENRER
gas, and China has become the world's second largest petroleum REBRHAE - RAEEEAR - AfA
consumption country next to the United States. However, the total Mt aERENOIEERE - HiGER

petroleum supply is far below total petroleum consumption, and the B ERREL - —EERFHPEBERLH
contradiction of supply shortage is prominent increasingly. According to M EERGA AR  —TTRFH
the 2005 National Economy and Social Development Statistics, in 2005, FREZ1.81EN - AMEEE3.0EE - A
China's petroleum output was 181 million tons, while petroleum R IMKREEZA0%0 LG - TOBRAME
consumption was 300 million tons, with approximately 40% of EEHEFRN TR o RRPEAH - RARH
petroleum depending on imports. This fully showed the shortage of BREBENEEELCER AL RN T Y
petroleum production to consumption. China’s total consumption of e A RARBEERNT EE—F
petroleum and natural gas in the future will still be increasing with the A - Et - insg B AR AH - RAREED
steady growth of the economy, and the shortages of petroleum and KA EEAATEAMMHGRER  HEA
natural gas supply will become even more acute. Therefore, HBREREIMBENERRE 22— &
strengthening the exploration and exploitation of domestic petroleum RRBEEFBEREBEREFSUERER
and natural gas would be an important approach of solving China's T AhRARERFAEESAEERNT
petroleum supply shortage and reducing the dependence on import of HERAIR ©

petroleum being a strategic resource. Under the situation that

international crude oil price continues to maintain a high level trend,

exploitation of petroleum and natural gas resources business has a

broad market development outlook.

Lottery Operating System Supply and Ancillary Services EEEERGHERRERY
In 2005, the sales of lottery market in China broke through RMB70 —ETRFHEREMSHERE —BREA

billion with its total volume climbed to the ninth place in the world. In RHE700187T - BEBAZHRFEN - ER
view of the continuous economic development in China that stimulates BRI R T BB AE R ASRAR
per capita income and the consumption power of the domestic residents, HERNZE A - PEEETSREES
the lottery market in China will develop rapidly, and thus bring about RER  EMARERZERIEXRGHE
huge demand for the lottery operating system supply and ancillary MECEMRG T RER ) 2 T3k -

services of the Group.

Looking ahead, the Group will further develop several business areas RERR  AEERKESH HERLZEE

including distribution, supply and installation of piped natural gas, BAAR - MRERMALE  HEFEHEL
exploitation of oil and gas resources, and lottery, to create maximum RAER - RIRAIERZAEE -

value for its shareholders.

Mo Shikang BFRT
Managing Director HittEE
Hong Kong, 1 September 2006 BB ZEZRFNAHA—-A
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Ruixin, aged 65, is the Honourable Chairman of the Board and
an Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Xu is currently the Chairman
of the China Association of Social Workers. He was a Vice Minister of
the Ministry of Civil Affairs of the People’s Republic of China and a
member of the Ministry’s Party Organization Department. He joined
the Company on 11 April 2005.

Mr. Liu Jing, aged 46, is the Chairman of the Board and an Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Liu holds an international Executive MBA
degree from the Peking University. He is currently the Chairman of the
Zhongmin group, Publisher of Public Welfare Times (2 #z=H& k), a
member of the Communist Party Committee of the Ministry of Civil
Affairs of the People’s Republic of China, a Standing Committee member
of the China Association of Social Worker, the Standing Vice Chairman
of the China Committee of Corporate Citizenship and the Vice Chairman
of Lottery Committee. Mr. Liu has been working in the Ministry of Civil
Affairs of the People’s Republic of China for 26 years, during which he
held duties in various departments, including the General Office, the
City Welfare Department, Central and Public Welfare Department (4
87~ 7]), the Government Offices Administration, and the Press
Department. He has over 15 years experience in operational
management, of which over 11 years involving in top management for
big enterprises. Mr. Liu has substantial experience in investment, media,
sales and marketing, import and export trade, real estate development,
project management and tourism. He joined the Company on 11 April
2005.

Mr. Mo Shikang, aged 48, is the Managing Director and Executive
Director of the Company. He is also a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. He holds a Bachelor degree in Natural
Sciences from Tianjin Education University, a Master degree in Economics
from Tianjin University of Finance & Economics and a Doctor degree in
Economics from Nankai University. Mr. Mo has substantial experience
in the development and management of natural gas projects in the
PRC. He joined the Company on 30 April 2004. He is also a Director
and President of dbH RFASE AR 2 & (Beijing Zhong Min Gas Co.
Ltd.), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS
EEZERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued) BITESE @)

Mr. Zhu Peifeng, aged 49, is a Deputy Chairman of the Board and an KERLE  BFENO+ N AEEEEIE
Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Zhu holds a Bachelor degree ERAITES - REAHE LGEEERE
from Shanghai Maritime Transportation University, and a Master degree T2 DBREASELTEM - KEEE
from Tongji University in Shanghai. He had worked as General Manager BERERFESFFRARRYID R RELE -
of the Shenzhen branch of Guotai Securities Company Limited, General HRELBHFRMDERARIERER @R
Manager of the international business headquarter of Guotai Junan K12 RBLEFRNBRAABBEES
Securities Company Limited, General Manager of the institutional IRGAaEb @R - IRBLR T RERERA
customer services headquarter of Guotai Junan Securities Company RARITES  BRELRESR (BB BRAR
Limited, Executive Director of Guotai Junan Financial Holdings Company BEE EREREEERE (EMABRAFTE

Limited, Director of Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong) Company Z% - Harvest China Equities Investment
Limited, Director of Guotai Junan Assets Management (Asia) Limited, Company LimitedE £ R FEEM8 o KEER
and Chairman of the Board of Harvest China Equities Investment —NNAZFEMAREZFA  GEBER

Company Limited. Mr. Zhu joined the financial securities industry in 11 BRFHFARARF - RFRELEFKRD
1992 and has worked over 10 years for Bank of Communications, BRATITERE o REERFBEAM REH
Guotai Securities Company Limited, and Guotai Junan Securities BAMSHEAEENER LR - KEE
Company Limited. He has extensive practical experience in the capital RZZEZERF=A-+—HIALRRQH °
markets of Mainland China and Hong Kong. He joined the Company

on 21 March 2005.

Mr. Zhang Hesheng, aged 52, is a Deputy Chairman of the Board and RM&ERE  RFL+m RARAES
an Executive Director of the Company. He is also the chairman of the BRIFEFRNTES  REETARARF
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang holds a MBA MEES & FE o sRETEHRE RN Latrobe K2
degree from the Latrobe University in Australia. He joined the emerging THEERELT 2 - WNSOFRZ IR F+
financial securities industry in China in late 1980s, and had engaged in BB e rmESR  TRESBRESA

the top management position in the areas of securities and financial Al BIRFHERLA  BRELHFFAR
investment, securities brokerages, investment banking, financial research NEIENEBHFERMITE  BHLEL BE
and analysis for various companies such as Wanguo Holdings Limited, RIT R A TIAREEFEF DRI - W’

Guotai Securities Company Limited and Guotai Junan Securities IRAELERRE - REEEFERESR
Company Limited. Mr. Zhang has extensive experience in the financial FREXKEMEENTRERNTHER - K
industry and substantial working experience in the financial capital market. EERZZTTERFE=A=-+—HMAEXR
He joined the Company on 21 March 2005. Al e

Mr. Jin Song, aged 34, is an Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Jin AL RFE=1MK  RARRWITE
holds a Bachelor degree in Computer Science from Tianjin University of oA REREETERIERARIEES
Technology and a MBA degree from Oklahoma City University. He had 247 K Oklahoma City University T & 32
engaged in marketing and project management for Shenzhen Huawei BB - HENRYIER/RMARARN
Technologies Co. Ltd., and had worked for years in investment banking Eigatal HEBRIE: REMNESE
business for Guangzhou Security Company Limited and Huatai Securities RARINEREFARDFNERERITE
Co. Ltd. He is currently a Director and a Vice President of 1t 5/ RIAR BEZF - BRALRPERTERATES
HBRA7A] (Beijing Zhong Min Gas Co. Ltd.) and is responsible for the FERE  BERE  AHRMEERR -5
investment and merger and acquisition businesses. Mr. Jin has substantial S BEIRE IRITEBIA MR B RS
experience in investment banking as well as merging and acquisition of BHEEGLYERLR - FEEN _TTHF
gas enterprises in the PRC. He joined the Company on 11 April 2005. MA+—BMAERRTA -
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Yan Wing Cheung, aged 41, is an Executive Director, Financial
Controller and Qualified Accountant of the Company. He is responsible
for the overall supervision on the accounting and financial reporting
procedures and internal controls and compliance of the Company and
its subsidiaries. Mr. Yan graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
with a Professional Diploma in Accountancy. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and an associate member of
the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, and has over 17
years of experience with regard to accounting-related, auditing and
financial reporting issues. Mr. Yan had worked in several renowned
international audit firms and had also assumed the position of financial
controller of a US multi-national Company. He joined the Company on
15 July 2005.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Junmin, aged 56, is an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company. He is also a member of the audit committee and
remuneration committee of the Company. He holds a Bachelor degree,
a Master degree and a PhD degree in Economics from Nankai University.
He is currently a Professor of the School of Economics of Nankai
University, a Director of the Virtual Economics & Management Research
Center of Nankai University, the President of the Tianjin branch of China
Foreign Economics Research Association (FFEE5MNBI & E2IZTR), a
member of the Tianjin Academic Degree Committee as well as
Independent Director of Tianjin Faw Xiali Automobile Co. Ltd. He was
awarded the “Sun Yefang Economics Prize!” He joined the Company on
11 April 2005.

Mr. Tan Qinglian, aged 68, is an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company. He is also a member of the audit committee and
remuneration committee of the Company. He is the Member of the
10th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference and President of China Civil Engineering Society. He was
once the Vice Minister of the Ministry of Construction of the People’s
Republic of China. He joined the Company on 11 April 2005.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Wong Shing Kay, Oliver, age 54, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. He is also the chairman of the audit committee
and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company. He is
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
of the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and an associate member of Certified General Accountants
of Canada. Mr. Wong had worked in various renowned auditing firms in
Hong Kong with over 17 years of experience in handling auditing, financial
accounting and taxation matters. He also assumed the duty of financial
controller for many listed companies in both Hong Kong and Canada
during the past ten years. Mr. Wong is presently practising as a Certified
Public Accountant in Hong Kong. He is knowledgeable with expertise in
financial accounting, taxation, import-export business and company
management. Mr. Wong is also an independent non-executive director
and a member of audit committee of Deson Development International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 262). He joined the Company on 27
September 2004.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2006.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in the distribution, supply and installation of piped
natural gas business in the PRC and the holding and leasing of properties
in the PRC and the provision of welfare lottery operating systems and
ancillary services. The principle activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
note 37 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2006 are set out
in the consolidated income statement on page 50.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2006 (2005: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
During the year, the Group acquired and disposed of property, plant

and equipment of HK$119,363,000 and HK$27,000 respectively.

Details of these movements during the year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group and the Company are set out in note 15 to
the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 26 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Detalils of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statements of changes in equity on page 53.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2006, the Company did not have any distributable
reserve.

25

EEEHSE

EFgEREA AR RANBAR ([RE
BEHEE-_TTF-A=-+—HIFEZ
FHRRSEZITERE ©

ETEXEH
RARA—EIREERAR - REEETEH
EEPESE  HERTETERAR T
¢ﬁ%$%¥%ﬁﬂﬂ A RREREARE
CERGNERE c BB AR EEE
e N B T R YA

KERER

AEEBE_ZERF=R=1+—RHIFE
ZEBENES0E 2R A Wk

ﬁ%ﬂzi_u?k/ 1#@?:—22/\35 H +_
HIEFEZRBRE (CZTHE - 8|) o

Y - BERRE

RAFEE AEFBUWBRLHEBE
119,363,0007T K278 827,00070 2 W% - &
B R & -
REBEAAB ZWE - BEREERAF
g2 B EEHN Y S REM TS -

i 3

RATRARAREE 2 EEHISH NI B R
=HiEE26 °

it 0

EPARIEZ BRI RN B A A

] 4t 53 I G O

RZTBERF=R=+—H KRR
IR



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive directors:

Xu Ruixin (Honourable Chairman)

(appointed on 11 April 2005)
Liu Jing (Chairman)

(appointed on 11 April 2005)
Mo Shikang (Managing Director)
Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)
Zhu Peifeng (Deputy Chairman)
Jin Song

(appointed on 11 April 2005)
Yan Wing Cheung

(appointed on 15 July 2005)
Ong Chi King

(resigned on 15 July 2005)
Wang Ke Duan

(resigned on 11 April 2005)
Tjia Boen Sien

(resigned on 11 April 2005)
Wang Jing Ning

(resigned on 11 April 2005)
Keung Kwok Cheung

(resigned on 11 April 2005)
Kong Kwok Fai

(resigned on 11 April 2005)

Independent non-executive directors:

Liu Junmin

(appointed on 11 April 2005)
Tan Qinglian

(appointed on 11 April 2005)
Wong Shing Kay, Oliver
Siu Man Po

(resigned on 11 April 2005)
Wong Sin Yee

(resigned on 11 April 2005)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS (Continued)

In accordance with Bye-Law 99 of the Company's Bye-Laws, Mr. Mo
Shikang, Mr. Zhang Hesheng, Mr. Zhu Peifeng and Mr. Wong Shing Kay,
Oliver will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, Mr. Mo Shikang, Mr. Zhang Hesheng and Mr. Zhu
Peifeng will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, but Mr. Wong Shing Kay, Oliver will not offer himself
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Therefore
the Company proposes to appoint Mr. Chan Chuk Cheung Ivan as the
new independent non-executive director at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting to fill the vacancy arising therefrom.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
No proposed director for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group

within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at 31 March 2006, the interests of the directors and their associates
in the shares and share options of the Company or its associated

corporations, as recorded in the register maintained by the Company

pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the

“SFO"), or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model

Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, were

as follows:

ESRRORERKRGZHES

RIEEXFE=ZA=+—8  BREEELE
EIEPIEIS 26 AR EIFE 2 ERMATRE
B BB LT ARZERHETEER S ZIZ
D3

BTABMERRRRBBHERZAER
RE([BRFr))  BRAEERBREZHEA

TRARTREBE AT 2RI RBRAEZ
ST ¢

(a) Issued shares (a) BRITRHG
Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
issued share capital
b N
Name Capacity Number of shares 2RITRA
=t 14 BRHEE ZHHBEIL
Super Win Development Beneficial owner 1,100,798,538 38.15%
Limited (“Super Win") BB
Asian Allied Limited Through a controlled corporation 1,100,798,538 38.15%
("Asian Allied") (Note 1)
BBESIRREAE
(H1aE1)
Mr. Mo Shikang Through controlled corporations 1,100,798,538 38.15%
BEHREEE (Note 1 and 2)
BBAESINRER
(a1 K2)
Notes: ftet

1. Asian Allied is interested in the same block of 1,100,798,538 shares
registered under the name of Super Win, its wholly-owned

subsidiary.

2. Mr. Mo Shikang is the beneficial owner of 42.75% of the issued
share capital of Asian Allied. Pursuant to the provisions of Part XV
of the SFO, Mr. Mo Shikang is deemed to be interested in the
same block of 1,100,798,538 shares in which Asian Allied has an

attributable interest.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING EFERBCRERKNZES ()
SHARES (Continued)

(b) Shares Options (b) HERERHE

Closing price
before date

Number of of grant Exercise price

Name Capacity Options REHAH Exercise period  per share

=g 54 BREHE AT B T SRTEE

(HK3)

CET)

Liu Jing Beneficial owner 26,000,000 0.365 12 October 2005 0.365
2R BE=BA to 3 April 2007
—“EERFTA+T=HE
—EE+FMA=H

Mo Shikang Beneficial owner 2,600,000 0.365 12 October 2005 0.365
HHtE BE=HBA to 3 April 2007
—TTRFE+A+ZHZE
—EE+FIMA=H

Zhu Peifeng Beneficial owner 2,600,000 0.365 12 October 2005 0.365
KIEE BE=mAA to 3 April 2007
—EENF+ATZHZE
—ETLFMA=H

Zhang Hesheng  Beneficial owner 2,600,000 0.365 12 October 2005 0.365
SRAIAE EREAEA to 3 April 2007
—EENF+ATZHZE
ZEEHFUA=R

Jin Song Beneficial owner 26,000,000 0.365 12 October 2005 0.365
Eaj/\ =B A to 3 April 2007
—EENF+ATZHEE
R FUA=R

Yan Wing Cheung Beneficial owner 26,000,000 0.395 17 May 2006 0.400
BIKHE B=EBA to 3 April 2007
—EERFRA+TERE
—EE+FMA=H

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors nor their associates B EEEI R BB NE=J=+—
had any interests in any shares and underlying shares of the A EEAAEE AR E A TR AD TR
Company or any of its associated corporations as at 31 March H AT (AR =B > (E iR 15 S AR IR 15 h
2006. A AT o
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the Company's share option scheme are set out in note
27 to the financial statements.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed in note 36 to the financial statements, there
are no contracts of significance to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2006, according to the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, the following persons
were, directly or indirectly, beneficially interested in 5% or more of the

issued share capital and share options of the Company.
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FEERE

R-BBAF=A=T+—8  BEAATE
B RAE D EIS6HEATE 2 TR
UTATEESIRE R SREARTEE

IS BRI 2 5003 bA_E RS

Number of
underlying shares Percentage of
(under equity the Company's
derivatives of issued
the Company) share capital
Numberof  HERHHA Aggregate ]
Name of shareholder Capacity and nature of interest shares held (RARBRAE interest BEARA
RREH ERGARME BERGEE  fTETHET) ERAE BAK
Super Win Directly beneficially owned 1,100,798,538 - 1,100,798,538 38.15%
ERERRS
Asian Allied Through a controlled corporation (Note 7) 1,100,798,538 - 1,100,798,538 38.15%
BEAEHINESE (W)
Mr. Mo Shikang Through controlled corporations 1,100,798,538 2,600,000 1,103,398,538 38.24%
Bt REA (Note 1 and 2)
BEAEBIAAES (W31 R2)
Equator View Capital Directly beneficially owned (Note 3) 73,843,570 217490318 291,333,888 10.10%
("Equator View") BEEREA (W3)
DKR Soundshore Oasis Through a controlled corporation (Note 4) 73,843,570 217490318 291,333,888 10.10%
Holding Fund Limited RBMERIARSE (Hit4)
("DKR Soundshore”)
DKR Oasis Management Co. LP Investment Manager 73,843,570 217490318 291,333,888 10.10%
("DKR Oasis Management") RELE
DKR Capital Partners LP Through controlled corporations (Note 5) 73,843,570 217490318 291,333,888 10.10%
("DKR Capital") BRAZHILARE (1)
DKR Management Co. Inc. Through controlled corporations (Note 5) 73,843,570 217490318 291,333,888 10.10%
('DKR Management") RBFEHIRAEE (i)
DKR Capital Inc. Through controlled corporations (Note 5) 73,843,570 217490318 291,333,888 10.10%
BBEHAREE (i)
Qasis Management Holdings LLC Through controlled corporations (note 6) 73,843,570 217490318 291,333,888 10.10%

("Oasis Management”)

BRMEHIATINE (Hito)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Notes:

Super Win holds 1,100,798,538 shares in the Company. By virtue of
Super Win being a wholly-owned subsidiary of Asian Allied, Asian Allied is
deemed to be interested in the 1,100,798,538 shares held by Super
Win.

Mr. Mo Shikang is the beneficial owner of 42.75% of the issued share
capital of Asian Allied. Pursuant to the provisions of Part XV of the SFO,
Mr. Mo Shikang is deemed to be interested in the same block of
1,100,798,538 shares in which Asian Allied has an attributable interest.

Equator View entered into a conditional subscription agreement with the
Company on 7 September 2005 to subscribe for US$20,000,000
convertible bonds (the “Convertible Bonds") from the Company. The
Convertible Bonds were issued to Equator View on 28 October 2005. On
31 March 2006, the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible
Bonds are US$10,000,000.

Equator View interests in 291,333,888 shares in the Company. By virtue
of Equator View being a 95% owned subsidiary of DKR Soundshore.
DKR Soundshore is deemed to be interested in the 291,333,888 shares
held by Equator View.

DKR Qasis Management controls 291,333,888 shares owned by Equator
View. By virtue of DKR Oasis Management being a 519% owned subsidiary
of DKR Capital, and DKR Capital being 50% each owned by DKR
Management and DKR Capital Inc., and DKR Management is wholly-owned
by DKR Capital Inc, each of DKR Capital, DKR Management and DKR
Capital Inc. is deemed to be interested in the 291,333,888 shares owned
by Equator View.

Qasis Management is interested in 49% of the entire issued share capital
of DKR Qasis Management and is therefore entitled to exercise or control
the exercise of one third or more of the voting power at general meetings
of DKR Qasis Management. By virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the
SFO, Oasis Management is deemed to be interested in the same block of
291,333,888 shares in which DKR Oasis Management is interested.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of

any other relevant interests in the issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 March 2006.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

MAIJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, sales to the Group's five largest customers accounted
for approximately 34% of the total sales for the year, and sales to the
largest customer included therein amounted to approximately 13%.
Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 79% of the total purchases for the year, and purchases
from the largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately
41%.

None of the directors of the Company, or any of their associates or any
other shareholders, which, to the best knowledge of the directors, owns
more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital, had any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS

None of the directors or substantial shareholders of the Company or
any of their respective associates has engaged in any business that
competes or may compete with the business of the Group or has any
other conflict of interests with the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee and is based on their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics. No director, or any of
his associates, and executive is involved in dealing his own remuneration.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme is set out in
note 27 to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's Bye-

laws, or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the publicly available information and to the best knowledge
of the directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float
during the year as required under the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company's corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 35 to 47.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
independent non-executive directors are independent.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Details of significant post balance sheet events of the Group are set out
in note 38 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS

On 23 March 2005, Messrs. Ernst & Young, who acts as auditors for the
period from 1 April 2002 to 31 March 2004, resigned and Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu were appointed as auditors of the Company.

The financial statements have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu who will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual
general meeting to re-appoint the auditors, Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu.

On behalf of the Board

MO SHIKANG
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 1 September 2006
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to a high standard of corporate governance
practices in enhancing the confidence of shareholders, investors,
employees, creditors and business partners and also the growth of its
business. The Company's corporate governance practices are based on
the principles (“Principles”) and the code provisions (“Code Provisions”)
as set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“CG Code")
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
(“Listing Rules"). The Company has complied with most of the Code
Provisions save for certain deviations from the Code Provisions in respect
of Code Provisions A.2.1, A.4.1 and A.4.2, details of which are explained
below. The Company regularly reviews its corporate governance practices
to ensure that these continue to meet the requirements of the CG
Code.

SUMMARY OF DEVIATIONS OF THE CG CODE:
Code Provision A.2.1

Under Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

The Company does not have a position of Chief Executive Officer but
the Managing Director performs similar function as Chief Executive
Officer. As such, the Board considers that sufficient measures have been
taken to ensure that the Company's corporate governance practices
are comparable to those in the Code Provision.

Code Provisions A.4.1 and A.4.2

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Code Provision
A.4.2 stipulates that all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should
be subject to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
their appointment. Every director, including those appointed for a specific
term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

The independent non-executive directors are not appointed for a specific
term. However, all non-executive directors are subject to the retirement
and rotation requirements in accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws.
As such, the Board considers that sufficient measures have been taken
to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are
comparable to those in the Code Provision.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERABRS

SUMMARY OF DERIVATIONS OF THE CG CODE: (Continued)  {RRESBIETZIHE : (i)
Code Provisions A.4.1 and A.4.2 (Continued) SFRAMRCEAL1 RAL21% ()

To comply with Code Provision A.4.2, relevant amendments to the AESTTANEEAAIGE  ARRIER =T
Company's Bye-Laws were proposed and approved by the shareholders ZERFNA+TRAARTZRRBFERG 2
at the Company’s annual general meeting held on 15 September 2005. ZHARRNFABERRMANELBEBEII 22
Under the Company's existing Bye-Laws, every director, including those BRI o RIBAQTIRE 2 AR
appointed for specific terms, should be subject to retirement by rotation EiR@A REF (BRESEEHZES)
at least once every three years. All directors appointed to fill a casual HAZVB=FHREREI R - MEREMH
vacancy should be subject to election at the first and subsequent general BRRERMELZT ESETEARRAE
meeting. N 7 IRRKRE FRER -

THE KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND FELEREARARER
PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges the important role of its board of directors ARRPARERE ([EFE]) EREARFIR
(“Board") in providing effective leadership and direction of the Company HEMEE S|EARAFEEREE - UHER
towards its objectives and ensuring transparency and accountability of B RBEERFERERHE L EE
all operations. The key corporate governance principles and practices EBZAG  c ARRIZFELEERRAR

of the Company are summarised as follows: Rt
THE BOARD EEE
Responsibilities B

The Company has a division of functions reserved to the Board and RAFEDEFEAFGRETERABZR
delegated to the management. The Board provides leadership and B -EFESEBREACRERRBREL
approves strategic policies and plans with a view to enhance shareholder T BokiRml g - Y ARRZA
interests while the day-to-day operations of the Company are delegated BEFZNEREEAR - EFFRBELR
to the management. The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters AIFTEEARFEEIRTERE  BIEMERER

of the Company, including: the approval and monitoring of all policy —VIBREE BEXREMBIEE - RE
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk EEREREIRRS  EARS (FhlR%E

management systems, material transactions (in particular those may AR RN RE R X D) « MEER - EF
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of o kEMERM SN EEER -
directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as 2EEEHZERFIE—E@ER
well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a view NREBRRIWE 2 B R KRS - #Ut R
to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations EReRFEFMTEEARAKRIES
are followed. Each director is normally able to seek independent B RNEBELT  BEREF—RUME

professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company's FERLER  USKBUEXER - BF
expense, upon making request to the Board. AR BIEGE o

36



-
Annual Regort 2005-2006 F 3

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES (Continued)

THE BOARD (Continued)
Responsibilities (Continued)

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the Managing Director and the management.
The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the abovementioned officers.

The Board has the full support of the Managing Director and the
management to discharge its responsibilities.

Composition

The Board has in its composition a balance of skills and experience
necessary for independent decision making and fulfilling its business
needs.

The Board of the Company comprises the following directors:
Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Ruixin (Honourable Chairman)

Mr. Liu Jing (Chairman)

Mr. Mo Shikang (Managing Director)
(Member of Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Zhu Peifeng (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Jin Song

Mr. Yan Wing Cheung
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

i

BERAWE

THE KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES (Continued)

THE BOARD (Continued)
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Shing Kay, Oliver
(Chairman of Audit Committee and Member of Remuneration
Committee)
Mr. Liu Junmin
(Member of Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee)
Mr. Tan Qinglian
(Member of Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee)

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

During the year ended 31 March 2006, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors with at least one independent
non-executive director possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director of his independence pursuant to
the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise, experiences and independent judgement to
the Board. Through active participation in Board meetings, taking the
lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests and
serving on Board committees, all independent non-executive directors
will scrutinize the performance of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES (Continued)

THE BOARD (Continued)
Appointment and Succession Planning of Directors

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent
procedures for the appointment and succession planning of directors.
Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Code Provision
A.4.2 stipulates that all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should
be subject to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
their appointment. Every director, including those appointed for a specific
term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

The independent non-executive directors are not appointed for a specific
term. However, all non-executive directors are subject to the retirement
and rotation requirements in accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws.
As such, the Board considers that sufficient measures have been taken
to ensure that the Company's corporate governance practices are
comparable to those in the Code Provision.

To comply with Code Provision A.4.2, relevant amendments to the
Company’s Bye-Laws were proposed and approved by the shareholders
at the Company's annual general meeting held on 15 September 2005.
Under the Company's existing Bye-Laws, every director, including those
appointed for specific terms, should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. All directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election at the first and subsequent general
meeting.

Training for Directors

Each newly appointed director receives comprehensive, formal induction
to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business
and his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and

relevant regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing
and professional development to directors whenever necessary.
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i

BERAWE

THE KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES (Continued)

THE BOARD (Continued)
Board Meetings

During the year under review, four full board meetings were held. Details
of the attendance of the Directors are as follows:

FRLEEARARER (1)

EEE (|

Exgel

REEFAN  RAAFRARORERESES

% SEFOLBEMT

Directors’ Attendance

HERE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Xu Ruixin (Honourable Chairman) RIFT R (REBFE) 4/4
Mr. Liu Jing (Chairman) R EE (EE) 4/4
Mr. Mo Shikang (Managing Director) Rt RFESE (BFELTE) 4/4
Mr. Zhu Peifeng (Deputy Chairman) KRIBRSE (FIF/E) 4/4
Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman) SRFAE A (BIF/E) 4/4
Mr. Jin Song R E 4/4
Mr. Yan Wing Cheung HKAESEE 4/4
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Liu Junmin BIMRLSE 4/4
Mr. Tan Qinglian BERESE 4/4
Mr. Wong Shing Kay, Oliver EAESL 4/4
Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at least 14 EEeTHeRBERONGRBITANARIKE
days before the meetings. For other Board and committee meetings, FEF - ZRHEMEFEEREREEEE  —

reasonable notice is generally given.

Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate information are
sent to all directors at least three days before each Board meeting or
committee meeting to give an opportunity and sufficient time to include
matters in the agenda. The Board is also obligated to keep the directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board
and each director also have separate and independent access to the
executives whenever necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES (Continued)

THE BOARD (Continued)
Board Meetings (Continued)

The Company Secretary is responsible to take and keep minutes of all
Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and the final version is open for directors’ inspection. Directors
are entitled to have access to board papers and queries will be responded
fully. According to current Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a director,
will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened
Board meeting. Such director must abstain from voting and will not be
counted as quorum.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company fully supports the division of responsibility between the
Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director, who performs similar
role as Chief Executive Officer, to ensure a balance of power and authority.
The respective responsibilities of the Chairman and the Managing
Director are clearly defined and set out in writing. The Chairman provides
leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board
in accordance with good corporate governance practice. With the support
of the management, the Chairman is also responsible for ensuring that
the directors receive adequate information and appropriate briefing on
issues arising at Board meetings.

The Managing Director focuses on implementing objectives, policies
and strategies approved and delegated by the Board. He is in charge of
the Company's day-to-day management and operations. The Managing
Director is also responsible for developing strategic plans and formulating
the organisational structure, control systems and internal procedures
and processes for the Board's approval. The position of the Chairman is
held by Mr. Liu Jing while the position of the Managing Director is held
by Mr. Mo Shikang.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERABRS

THE KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND FELEERRARER (&)
PRACTICES (Continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES EEZEY

The Board has established two committees, namely, the Remuneration EEEENUMEZES - DRAFTMES
Committee and Audit Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of ENEREE®  UERARRREIELZ
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are 2 ARAIBEFLZEGNEERTER
established with defined written terms of reference. The terms of HEHE EEZ a8 g BESEHNALF
reference of the Board committees are posted on the Company's website WL FEERSAHIRR R - EF L8R
and are available to shareholders upon request. The Board committees RERHERABITART - WHEEBR
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, TAREAEEREABUEEER - 88
upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional R AIARIE o

advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

Remuneration Committee FHEES

Mr. Zhang Hesheng, Mr. Mo Shikang, Mr. Liu Junmin, Mr. Tan Qinglian SRAIAESEAE R RASE - BIBERSESE B
and Mr. Wong Shing Kay, Oliver are the members of the Remuneration ErELEREAELERTHEEENE
Committee and Mr. Zhang Hesheng is the chairman of the committee. MEMESLERZTESTIRE - FHEES 2
The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include making TERR BREECHEATR ERREER2
recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy and BRINLERERAZEEXER (BAALRAQTF]
structure and remuneration packages of the executive directors and the HAE) 1 - MITE R RITHA B Z HBeR
executives after consultation with the Chairman/Managing Director and K2 BRI DA B S AR R 4 L e S s it o B
accessed to professional advice, at the Company's expense, when ZEENMBERYAFBRAEZIEF - UHE
necessary. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for B NEOR 2R - RMEEEHIRE
establishing transparent procedures for developing such remuneration A T2 ERER 2 EAFB - B
policy and structure to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates 2 EEARARRA T RIRARTISEN
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, which FMRAERE - HEE & —RNFFFEA

remuneration will be determined by reference to the performance of BITEE  RAFHERREE BT
the individual and the Company as well as market practice and EEZRITBA B Z S FHBREN R E ISR
conditions. The Remuneration Committee normally meets towards the EH REBEZETREF-A=T—HILHF
end of each year for reviewing the remuneration policy and structure BER - FMEEEERTREHE  BIX

and determination of the annual remuneration packages of the executive NEZ HINBER RS - ARBITEE T
directors and the executives and other related matters. The Remuneration A BROEFE 2 FHEEH -

Committee met once during the year ended 31 March 2006 and

reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the Company and

remuneration packages of the executive directors and the executives

for the year under review.

42



s
Annual Regort 2005-2006 F 3

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRERBRRE

THE KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND FELEERARIRER (8
PRACTICES (Continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) EEZAT M)
Remuneration Committee (Continued) FHEEE (@)

Details of attendance record of members of the Remuneration HMEECKKEB 2 HECEFBOT ¢
Committee are set out below:

Meeting attended
Name of member FMESEREHA HESEER
Zhang Hesheng SRAAE
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee) FrWZEESEF/E) /1
Mo Shikang Bttt 1/1
Liu Junmin 2R 1/1
Tan Qinglian BEE 1/1
Wong Shing Kay, Oliver AR 1/1
Audit Committee EREES

The Audit Committee comprises the three independent non-executive ERZEGR=-RBEIINTES (BR KA
directors (including one independent non-executive director who HEES %é%&é?ﬂz*ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁxgEE%«%AZ%
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or SEHITER)EK - MERErEREEEF
related financial management expertise) and Mr. Wong Shing Kay, Oliver & o BA%ZE BN EBIIEARR FIIREINEZERED
is the chairman of the committee. None of the members of the Audit ZHRIEEREA -

Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external

auditors.

BT ERERETIIRA

B
NG
WP
il

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(a) To review the financial statements and reports and consider any (@) EHUVERREERE  EEAERS:

significant or unusual items raised by the qualified accountant, B - &R EEMNE) HIMNEZ SRR 2
compliance officer (if any) or external auditors before submission FRNERSIAZTEZIE  RAEBERXES
to the Board. g

(b) To review the relationship with the external auditors by reference (b) REBINEZBMETZIE HKEBERZ

to the work performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of BEMETR - e Bz iz e 2 R - W&
engagement, and make recommendation to the Board on the B BEREBRINEZHBM EEH - ME
appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditors. EgRHEBER -

(©) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s (© MWIAARRBHBIRE ZFRERER R
financial reporting system, and risk management system and ARABRERE P =B R AR BR -
associated procedures.
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THE KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES (Continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31
March 2006 to review the financial results and reports, financial reporting
and compliance procedures and the re-appointment of the external
auditors. There is no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern. Sufficient resources is provided by the Company for
the Audit Committee to perform its duties.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the
external auditors.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year under review.
Details of the attendance of the Audit Committee Meetings are as follows:

FRLEEARARER (1)

EEZAT M
EREES (B

ZEREZA=T—RHLFER "
%Eéﬁé TRREE - WEHIBE
A MR ﬁ?ﬁ‘k%&:‘i&/\%ﬁkfuﬁgﬂﬁl\
nW‘%(EHiEE RRWEBEFAERRSAR

#%%%Zﬁ‘éﬁHjiﬁéj(%if‘52$1¢§}2'lﬁiﬁ
HEZEATHARR - AABAEZERE
SRHEANERAEERTERRE

EFeNERZESMEGE R BHEX
FRISSNER BB TFER R A,

REBFERNGRITRAGE
GRLAMLEBERAT

Members’ Attendance

MBHER

Mr. Wong Shing Kay, Oliver EAESL
(Chairman of Audit Committee) (FEZEEETE) 2/2
Mr. Liu Junmin BIMRESE 2/2
Mr. Tan Qinglian EEELA 2/2
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THE KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES (Continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Auditors’ remuneration
For the year ended 31 March 2006, the Group had engaged the Group's

external auditors, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, to provide the following
services and their respective fees charged are set out as below:

Fees Charged for the year ended 31 March

TEE

s

FRLEEARARER ()

EFZERE @

3 T
HE-_ZZF-A=-+—HILFE £&
B R REINDZEANIEE) « SR FETAD
TRHE TR - SERE 2 Y EEH
™

BE=-A=+-HLEEZKE

2006 2005
“EEXRE —TETRHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT

Types of Services R¥EEE
Audit for the year REFEIRE 1,980,000 1,280,000
Non-audit services — interim review L BURTE — R HAE B 720,000 -
Non-audit services — taxation services L EURTE — R IR - -
Non-audit services — others IEZERTS — E At - -
Total @t 2,700,000 1,280,000

Nomination Committee

The Company does not have a Nomination Committee. The Board as a
whole is responsible for the procedure for agreeing to the appointment
of its members and for nominating appropriate person for election by
shareholders at the annual general meeting either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the existing directors.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code™) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the directors and the directors

have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2006.
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TRERABRS

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The Company has adopted the same Model Code for securities
transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company.

Responsibilities in respect of the Financial Statements

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price-sensitive
announcements and other financial disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements. The directors acknowledge
their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2006. The statement of the external
auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the “Report of the Auditors” on pages
48 and 49. Management of the Company is obligated to provide
explanation and information to the Board to make informed assessment
of relevant matters.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal controls
of the Company and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is
committed to implementing an effective and sound internal controls
system to safeguard the interests of shareholders and the assets of the
Group. The Board has reviewed the implementation of the system of
internal controls and reviewing of all relevant financial, operational,
compliance controls and risk management functions. A review will be
conducted at least annually on the effectiveness of the system of internal
controls.
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INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintain an open and effective investors
relations policy and to update investors on relevant information/
developments in a timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory
requirements. Briefings and meetings with institutional investors and
analysts are conducted from time to time. The Company also replied
the enquiries from shareholders timely. The Directors host the annual
general meeting each year to meet the shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll on
resolutions at shareholders’ meetings are contained in the Company's
Bye-Laws. Details of such rights and procedures are included in all
circulars to shareholders convening shareholders’ meetings and will be
explained during the proceedings of meetings. Whenever voting by way
of a poll is required, the detailed procedures for conducting a poll will
be explained.

Poll results will be counted by the Company's Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar, Tengis Limited, and will be published in newspapers on the
business day following the shareholders’ meeting and posted on the
website of the Stock Exchange. The general meetings of the Company
provide an opportunity for communication between the shareholders
and the Board. The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee, or in their absence,
other members of the respective committees, and where applicable,
the independent Board committee, are available to answer questions
at the shareholders’ meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual directors.
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REPORT OF THE AUDITORS
B BUED ] &

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF . ARARRERERATZERR
CHINESE PEOPLE GAS HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED (REFREFMA 2 BRAF])

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements on pages 50 to TIZEENE B TIE N ES0EEF 1278 1R
127 which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles REABLREARAURHNGS I RE
generally accepted in Hong Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND EEREHBMEAHKE

AUDITORS
The Company's directors are responsible for the preparation of EAREFRAARREATEENTHEAER
consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view. In BHK - ERBEZFEBEQ TGS

preparing consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair B&E EFVUAERERSENGHR
view it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected ® o

i

and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our BIEEFEARIEAFE0E - ANZEEINE T
audit, on those financial statements and to report our opinion solely to ERBEEEEZTENER  HZEMB®
you, as a bodly, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies SERBYRMER  WEREEIRERS -
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards BRUELASL - ZEFB BRI MEEMAR -

or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. BT g ARENARTAEAMEMALE
FSREERIEE -
BASIS OF OPINION EREHER

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on FIZEAN R R BB G ARG RMHEE
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public RBERIBITEZIE - EREEBEAR
Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence B AEZELGE T RRTE SR MR
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial FEABNEE - TEETEEENREZL
statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates FiR e VB WRE ATER E AL

and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the Ffr BENEABERERES EEENAR
consolidated financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies EARBEERRALTOHEZ TS
are appropriate to the circumstances of the Group, consistently applied e

and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information AAZERANFE R B ST EAZ TAERS - HUAER

and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide s— %3&?%%\%%%#’#&%&% BiZ

us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether FEZREGSRNNEE R EFEEHH
the consolidated financial statements are free from material MEELFEERERRM - FEIBHR
misstatement. In forming our opinion, we also evaluated the overall TE o EEHERE  NEAE b %E

adequacy of the presentation of information in the consolidated financial FEVBHRAMHENEER LT EH -
statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for IZBEEE  BEE2EZIES R TN
our opinion. ERRMHAIEER -
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REPORT OF THE AUDITORS
& BUET ] &

OPINION BR

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and KB R REE N BRECAEERERT
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2006 and of HWET SEER-_ZEERF=-A=1—H
the loss and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended and have WEBSHRIAR BEXEREBEZBILEE
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements WEBKReRE - WEREEERTHED

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. B R ER B HRE -
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu =g e BERS ST
Certified Public Accountants HEETED

Hong Kong HE

1 September 2006 —ETRFHA—HA
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

S Al 3%
e WlaER
For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE_ZTRF=ZA=T—HILFE

2006 2005
—EERE —TTAHHF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kt et BT T BT T
(Restated)
G =gl
Turnover LEE 8 240,607 81,080
Cost of sales SHEKAR (113,281) (35,177)
Gross profit EN 127,326 45,903
Other operating income H iy A 9 18,789 1,635
Administrative expenses THAX (46,112) (15,725)
Decrease in fair value of REMFE LN TERD
investment properties - (6,000)
Loss on disposal of subsidiary LENBAFERE (5,519) —
Change in fair value of A S AT EE
convertible notes (117,800) -
Convertible notes issuance expenses AR EHEEITH S (10,140) -
Finance costs BTSN 10 (2,907) (641)
Share of results of associates JEIREE N R A 652 2,264
Share of result of JEMR HFIEHI B ERAE
a jointly-controlled entity - m
(Loss) profit before taxation BRAAT (B18) m A 11 (35,711) 27,435
Taxation IR 13 (19,400) (11,603)
(Loss) profit for the year REE (BR) & (55,111) 15,832
Attributable to: B TP A TR :
Equity holders of the Company RATIERFEE A (56,061) 15,336
Minority interests DYRR R 950 496
(55,111) 15,832
HK cents HK cents
AL AL
(Loss) earnings per share iR (B518) B 14
Basic BN (2.13) 0.61
Diluted e N/A FEHR 0.55
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

hREEEBER

At 31 March 2006
R_ZEEF=A=1+—H

2006 2005
—BEXRE —ZERF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
KtaE BET T BT
(Restated)
(& &E7)
Non-current assets EMBNVE E
Property, plant and equipment W - WENKRE 15 227,824 114,135
Investment properties wEMZE 16 6,984 48,138
Prepaid lease payments EfEe 17 8,737 4,960
Goodwill Bl 18 44,725 38,895
Interest in an associate NI T 19 3,564 =
Available-for-sale investments AL ERE 20 194 =
Investment in securities REFES 21 - 190
292,028 206,318
Current assets MENEE
Inventories FE 22 4,404 1,366
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H A EW IR 23 66,484 42,441
Prepaid lease payments e 17 366 103
Pledged bank deposits EHEMRITER - 130
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRIIRS 132,986 9,993
204,240 54,033
Current liabilities MENEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A T IE 24 25,325 60,025
Provision for scheme debts FTEIES RS - 1,047
Taxation payable FERTRRIE 28,835 10,812
Bank borrowings — amount —FRRE 2
due within one year RITREK 25 28,264 9,922
Convertible notes CIEAY & 28 133,788 -
216,212 81,806
Net current liabilities mENEEFRE (11,972) (277773)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERREARE 280,056 178,545
Non-current liabilities EmEaE
Bank borrowings — amount —FREHZ
due after one year RITER 25 2,807 11,085
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIBEE 30 61 61
2,868 11,146
Net assets BEFE 277,188 167,399
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

REEEBER

At 31 March 2006
R-ZEZRF=A=1+—H

2006 2005
—EERE —TTAHHF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
izt BT T BT T
(Restated)
G =gl
Capital and reserves A& A K2 s
Share capital (&N 26 201,989 183,030
Reserves G 70,486 (17,465)
Equity attributable to equity holders ARGz E A
of the Company Gt 272,475 165,565
Minority interests DERER S 4,713 1,834
277,188 167,399

The financial statements on pages 50 to 127 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 1 September 2006
and are signed on its behalf by:

Mo Shikang
Director
EtEE
B
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Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE-_ZTTRF=ZA=+—HILFE

Employee Atributable
Statutory Discreionary share-based fo equity
surplus surplus compensation holders of
fesene fesene resene the Company  Minority
Shae  Share  Capital Contibuted ~~ fund  fund  Copital  MURAX  Exchange Accumulated  KRF  interests
apital pemium resene  supls  EEBH  FERH connbution  (ZEE  resene  losses BEEEA 0% Totl
Bh REE EAEE AR 0RE  MRE M\EE MERE ENRE EMER RL RREE &
HKSOOD  HKSOO0  HKSOOO  HKSOOO  HKSOOO  HKSOOD  HKS0OD  HKS000  HKSOO0  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOO  HKS000
RETT REfT RMTm M BT BT MR M B BBt MR BT BT
(Moteo)  (Noteq) ~ (Moteb)  (Noteb)  (Note31)
(k) i) (hd) (6D ()
AT Aprl 2004 H-2EMENA-R 106380 9 - 89800 - = = = - (e3121) 3068 33
Prftfor e year REERT - - - - - - - - - % B &% B
Tod recognsed rome andemense. REEEEIMAR
forthe ear FxEE - - - - - - - - - BEOBE %6 B
sieof s foracqusioncfa.~~ SiAE-FHBA
subsidary and asocites REEDERORH B0 10 - - - - - - - - 30 - 30
Placement of shares RERR 8000 12000 - - - - - - - - 4000 - 40000
Subscipion of e TERN 0 970 - - - - - - - - D0 - 50
Dispose of a subsiday HE-FHELT - - - - - - - - - - - m
Bpenses naured incomecionwith TR}
e of haes R - ) - - - - - - - - ) - ()
Aequiion o addond st~ WBRIEEDT
nassoode it - - - - - - - - - -8
oropeors & - - - - MW - - - (10%) - - -
Acqision of subsidaes BB - - - - - - - - - - I KT K
Coptelcontouton tvough diposd AL ENELA]
of subsidares it} - - - - - - - - ) -
A3 March 005and 1 Al 2005 M=EFRE=RA=T-A
R-ZEREEA-A 83030 08% 2180 8980 546 M 748 = - (4878) 15565 183 167399
Bdage dfeeeaisign  BERIFEAEEL
tansleonofforeig cpertors EizE - - - - - - - - 3B - 3B - 3B
Loss o te ear RERER - - - - - - - - - (060 (606 %0 (s5I)
Tol ecomised icome andeerse. - ZERBEDMAR
frteyen Tt 3 N N NG )
Bercie of shae cpton frithE 250 10271 - - - - - () - - 10540 - 050
Appropitos 2 - - - -9 6 - - - (15%) - - -
ksieofraesncomesnol - HATARERR
comerbl ots v 16439 135 - - - - - - - - T -
Recognion o equiysetted WRREERAA
sharehesed pament REZNTED - - - - - - -9 - - -9
Aequition of addond mereting— YiE—FMBAH
sbsiday BER = = = = = = = = = = - 19 19
31 Marh 2006 ROZRRECA=T-H 099 16469 2080 8960 14T LR TR %6 313 (N64B) 4B 473 I
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE_ZTRF=ZA=T—HILFE

Notes:

@

®)

©

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of the Company's share capital issued as consideration
in exchange for the nominal value of the issued share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired at the time of the Company's listing in 1997.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for foreign investment
enterprises in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the Company's
PRC subsidiaries are required to maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund
and a discretionary surplus reserve fund, which are non-distributable.
Appropriations to such reserves are made out of profit after taxation of
the statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries while the amount
and allocation basis are decided by their board of directors annually. The
statutory surplus reserve fund can be used to make up their prior year
losses, if any, and can applied in conversion into capital by means of
capitalisation issue.

The amount represents a revaluation surplus which was recognised as a
result of the acquisition of an additional interest in Xin Hua Resources
Investment Limited (“Xin Hua") (previously an associate) which resulted
in Xin Hua becoming a subsidiary. Xin Hua was deregistered in this year.
Its assets and liabilities were transfered to the Company

itk

@

®)

©

REEZHABBEARRRIAMESRER
—NNAEF LRI Z B AR MmET
ZARFIRAEE - BzEHBEAREET
RAHELZ5E °

AR EE A RFANE (TR B ) SME 3248
BERREDIFTRE » NARZFENEA
AR EERBHABE RESRBHRAES
(BTAIDIK) © ZERHEZBAR B B
[BRRVEEMIEIHREA 2 RBHRAR] - &
BROEEENREFTSTFET AR
SRAEES A AERE LFEZERWH) -
WA RE A LB

ZeFEIEEWKEXin Hua Resources
Investment Limited (“Xin Hua") (A% B % B
ZHpE A R)) SR ME R CEEIXin Huahk A S
P82 7)) MR 2 E &SR ° Xin HuaE
RAFENZH  HEERABEEBEAR

A e
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
REHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE-_ZTTRF=ZA=+—HILFE

2006 2005
ZEERE —TTRE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Ffzt BETT BETT
(restated)
(lm=51)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES Fd-E S
(Loss) profit before taxation BrBi AT (65 18) &7 (35,711) 27435
Adjustments for: BTHEE (%
Interest expenses MERX 2,907 641
Interest income FEHA (657) (433)
Amortisation of goodwill BEEH - 2,198
Convertible notes issuance expense AR ESETRX 10,140 =
Depreciation il 7,285 1,481
Amortisation on prepaid lease payments - S hElppikn 2 47
Share-based employee expense AR A X (R B FX 9,307 -
Decrease in fair value of investment properties % & WA F(ER D - 6,000
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB L REE 5,519 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment &M% - BE k& EHE 27 1941
Change in fair value of convertible notes BREFNTEZE 117,800 -
Discount on acquisition of subsidiary WERBARE (2,812) -
Write back of provision for scheme debts RO EIEREE (1,047) -
Share of result of associates HHE AR ER (652) (2,264)
Share of result of a jointly-controlled entity HRFEHE RS - 1
Operating cash flows before movements in BELCEDR B
working capital Rene 112,178 37047
Decrease in amount due from a JEWR AR ZHIE 8 2
jointly-controlled entity RERD - 469
Increase in inventories FEE (1,866) (288)
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables ‘Z 5 J £t fE U B 1 14,409 (5,175)
Decrease in amounts due from fellow subsidiaries Y FI& EHIE 2 FlFUBR - 808
Decrease in amounts due from contract customers JEUIA 4% B FIE R > - (4,589)
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 REMENTIERND (107,366) (62,810)
Increase in retention money payable FERHRESIEM - 207
Decrease in amounts due to contract customers BN AKNRE B - (623)
Decrease in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  FER RIS BB 2 FIFUB R - (7,940)
Decrease in amount due to the ultimate holding ~ FEf SRR 2 A58
company B - (202)
Cash generated from (used in) operations mesnEE: (R Re 17,355 (43,096)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid AR AEAEH (1,399) (1,348)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) RexkEs (i)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REFE 15,956 (44,444)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

GEBRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE_ZTRF=ZA=T—HILFE

2006 2005
“EERE “ZTHE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
fitet BETR BT
(restated)
(18 =7)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Acquisition of subsidiaries Lhé- =] 32 (27,999) (23,156)
Acquisition of additional equity interest WM E 2 A
in subsidiaries FINRAE (338) -
Acquisition of an associate Lhé N (2,904) -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BENE BERSZE 15 (15,146) (7,846)
Prepaid lease payments BERNHEE - (377)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR 31 21,267 5,950
Interest received [RLG)) 657 433
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HENE  BERERE
equipment {53 - 25
Deposit paid for investments XRERE (18,391) -
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEFARSFE (42,854) (24971)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
Decrease (increase) in pledged bank deposits ~ EHR1TE R (320) 130 (30)
Proceeds from issue of new shares BRI FE50E - 72,500
New bank borrowings raised FTEGHMBTER 31,702 22,878
Repayment of bank borrowings BRFITER (36,641) (10,515)
Expenses incurred in connection with issue BIIHROEE
of new shares i3 (10,140) (2,003)
Share option conversion SRR 10,540 =
Interest paid EAFHE (2,907) (641)
Issue of convertible notes BT HRER 156,000 -
NET CASH GENERATED FROM FINANCING BERBHEL
ACTIVITIES REFH 148,684 82,189
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERHESEER
EQUIVALENTS B nEE 121,786 12,774
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FORERRESHE
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR EH 9,993 (2,781)
EFFECT OF FOREIGN CURRENCY RATE CHANGES M ERE &%/ & 1,207 -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FROSRAESHE
END OF THE YEAR HH 132,986 9,993
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERREEEER
CASH EQUIVALENTS BN
Bank and cash balances RITRREE6H 132,986 9,993
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability. The shares of the Company are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the section
headed “Corporate Information” of the Group's Annual Report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 37.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars while
the functional currency is Renminbi. The reason for selecting Hong
Kong dollars as its presentation currency is because the Company
is a public company with the shares listed on the Stock Exchange
where most of its investors are located.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

After reviewing the Group's and Company's budget for 2006/
2007 and taking into consideration the cash inflow from issuing
a convertible note in June 2006 and other longer term plans, the
directors consider that adequate resources exist for the Group to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and
are satisfied that, at the time of approving the financial statements,
it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements.

B %5 3R MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2006
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B % R M

For the year ended 31 March 2006

HE—

BENF=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS/CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND OTHER RESTATEMENT

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, a
number of new Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and
Interpretations (“INTs") (hereinafter collectively referred to as “new
HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") that are effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2005. The application of the new
HKFRSs has resulted in a change in the presentation of the
consolidated income statement, consolidated balance sheet and
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. In particular, the
presentation of minority interests and share of tax of associates
have been changed. The changes in presentation have been
applied retrospectively. The adoption of the new HKFRSs has
resulted in changes to the Group's accounting policies in the
following areas that have an effect on how the results for the
current and prior accounting years are prepared and presented:

HKFRS 3 - Business combinations

HKFRS 3 “Business combinations” is effective for business
combinations for which the agreement date is on or after 1 April
2005. On 1 April 2005, the Group has applied the transitional
provisions of HKFRS 3. The principal effects of the application of
HKFRS 3 to the Group are summarised below:

Goodwill

In previous years, goodwill arising on acquisition was capitalised
and amortised over its estimated useful life. With respect to
goodwill previously capitalised on the consolidated balance sheet,
the Group has discontinued amortising such goodwill from 1 April
2005 onwards and goodwill will be tested for impairment at least
annually and in the financial year in which the acquisition takes
place. Goodwill arising on acquisition after 1 April 2005 is
measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses (if any)
after initial recognition. As a result of this change in accounting
policy, no amortisation of goodwill has been charged in the current
year. Comparative figures for 2004 have not been restated.

Excess of the Group's interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost
(previously known as “negative goodwill”).
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS/CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND OTHER RESTATEMENT
(Continued)

HKFRS 3 - Business combinations (Continued)

Gooawill (Continued)

In accordance with HKFRS 3, any excess of the Group's interest
in the net fair value of acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition (“discount on
acquisition”) is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the acquisition takes place.

HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and
Presentation

HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement

In the current year, the Group has applied HKAS 32 “Financial
instruments: disclosure and presentation” and HKAS 39 “Financial
instruments: recognition and measurement”. HKAS 32 requires
retrospective application. HKAS 39, which is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005, generally does not
permit an entity to recognise, derecognise or measure financial
assets and liabilities on a retrospective basis. The principal effects
resulting from the implementation of HKAS 32 and HKAS 39 are
summarised below:
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt %5 R = MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2006
BEZTRF=A=1+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS/CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND OTHER RESTATEMENT
(Continued)

HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and
Presentation (Continued)

HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement (Continued)

Convertible bonds

HKAS 32 requires an issuer of a compound financial instrument
(that contains both financial liability and equity components) to
separate the compound financial instrument into its liability and
equity components on its initial recognition and to account for
these components separately. HKAS 39 requires derivatives
embedded in a non-derivative host contract to be accounted for
separately when the economic risks and characteristics are not
closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract
is not carried at fair value through profit or loss. The principal
impact of HKAS 32 and HKAS 39 on the Group is in relation to
the convertible bonds issued by the Company on 28 October
2005. According to HKAS 32, the conversion option should be
classified as equity component only if the option can be converted
by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the entity's own equity instruments.
Upon application of HKAS 32 and HKAS 39, it is determined that
the convertible notes does not contain any equity components
because the conversion price for the convertible notes is subject
to change and the convertible bonds cannot be converted into a
fixed number of the Company's shares. The Company has to
designate the entire convertible notes (including derivatives) as
a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. During the
year, a charge of HK$117,800,0000 in respect of the change in
fair value of the convertible notes was recognised.

Transaction costs amounted to HK$10,140,000 of issuing the
convertible notes are wholly charged to the income statement
during the year.

BRAEEMEREEDN FHBEZ
SHRAMET &)

EREH LA -SRI AE325 : ¥
ER25 (@&
BEREEAN -SRI AEIN - &
AR E ()

AJ R R (B 75

ARG ERERRREEESHT
H (AR iEema E kg h) 2 3
TR E B ERREE S 2T A
HEEHEBERKRESD - LoFEA
AR - A EREINRBAE - ;A
HOTEFENZITETEADFE -
i E AR R el IR E &R
LA R E S W IR A TEABEA
B - BA SR EAFEI2RREBHSE
LRIEIVRHAEE L FEXE - B
BEARRR=_ZEZERF+A=-1+/\H
BT 2 [MRES - RIBEAGFTER]
B35 - Mz LB EREER IR —E
ERSEHEI S e RMEERINZER
RERATE—EEHE M T AL -
Blfen S akEmabin - NIERBBEET
EREI2H R BB ST ERFEIN
& « NEBETE ZE AR ES I
BE RS, - AR ES 2 iR
B TEF) - B BRESFTELIRA
EEHE 2 ARARRD - AR RIEER
ERHTRRES(BETETR) IR
ANEEAREBEzeMBE £ 7
BRESF 2 A TFEZSHERIRE
117,800,000/ 7T °

BOAREEFRRSERAAER
10,140,0007C * EBHETAREZ I



Annual Report 2005-2006 % 3

NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS/CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND OTHER RESTATEMENT
(Continued)

HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and
Presentation (Continued)

HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities

At 31 March 2005, the Group classified and measured its debt
and equity securities in accordance with the benchmark treatment
of the Statement of Standard Accounting Practice 24 “Accounting
for investments in securities” (“SSAP 24"). Under SSAP 24,
investments in debt or equity securities are classified as

nou

“investment securities”, “other investments” as appropriate.
“Investment securities” are carried at cost less impairment losses
(if any) while “other investments” are measured at fair value,
with unrealised gains or losses included in the profit or loss. From
1 April 2005 onwards, the Group classifies and measures its
investment in securities in accordance with HKAS 39, financial
assets are classified as “financial assets at fair value through profit

nou

or loss”, “available-for-sale financial assets”, “loans and receivables”,
or "held-to-maturity financial assets”. The classification depends
on the purpose for which the assets acquired. “Financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss” and “available-for-sale financial
assets” are carried at fair value, with changes in fair values
recognised in profit or loss and equity respectively except for
unquoted equity investments for which fair values cannot be
measured reliably, such investments are stated at cost less
impairment. “Loans and receivables” and “held-to-maturity
financial assets” are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt %5 R = MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2006
BEZTRF=A=1+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS/CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND OTHER RESTATEMENT
(Continued)

HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and
Presentation (Continued)

HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities (Continued)

On 1 April 2005, the Group classified and measured its investment
in equity securities in accordance with the requirements of HKAS
39. As a result of the adoption of HKAS 39, the Group re-classified
an investment in unlisted equity securities of HK$190,000 from
“investment in securities” to “available-for-sale investments” in
the consolidated balance sheet at 1 April 2005. However, the
adoption of HKAS 39 did not have material financial impact to
the Group.

HKAS 17 - Leases

In previous periods, owner-occupied leasehold land and buildings
were included in property, plant and equipment and measured
using the cost model. In the current year, the Group has applied
HKAS 17 “Leases”. Under HKAS 17, the land and buildings
elements of a lease of land and buildings are considered separately
for the purposes of lease classification, unless the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and buildings
elements, in which case, the entire lease is generally treated as a
finance lease. To the extent that the allocation of the lease
payments between the land and buildings elements can be made
reliably, the leasehold interests in land are reclassified to prepaid
lease payments under operating leases, which are carried at cost
and amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis. This
change in accounting policy has been applied retrospectively (see
note 3A for the financial impact).
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS/CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND OTHER RESTATEMENT
(Continued)

HKFRS 2 - Share-based payment

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 2 “Share-based
payment” which requires an expense to be recognised where
the Group buys goods or obtains services in exchange for shares
or rights over shares (“equity-settled transactions”), or in exchange
for other assets equivalent in value to a given number of shares
or rights over shares (“cash-settled transactions”). The principal
impact of HKFRS 2 on the Group is in relation to the expensing
of the fair value of directors” and employees’ share options of the
Company determined at the date of grant of the share options
over the vesting period. Prior to the application of HKFRS 2, the
Group did not recognise the financial effect of these share options
until they were exercised. The Group has applied HKFRS 2 to
share options granted on or after 1 April 2005. In relation to
share options granted before 1 April 2005, the Group has not
applied HKFRS 2 to share options granted on or before 7
November 2002 and share options that were granted after 7
November 2002 and had vested before 1 April 2005 in
accordance with the relevant transitional provisions. However, the
Group s still required to apply HKFRS 2 retrospectively to share
options that were granted after 7 November 2002 and had not
yet vested on 1 April 2005. The effect on the adoption of HKFRS
2 for the current year is set out in note 3A.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B % R M

For the year ended 31 March 2006

HE—

BENF=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS/CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND OTHER RESTATEMENT
(Continued)

Restatement of properties held for sale as investment
properties

In prior years, properties held to earn rental income had been
incorrectly classified as “properties held for sale” and recognised
at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Such properties were required to have been recognised under
Statement of Standard Accounting Practice (SSAP) 13 and
measured at open market values with revaluation surpluses or
deficits credited or charged to an investment property revaluation
reserve unless the balance on this reserve was insufficient to
cover a revaluation deficit, in which case, the excess of the
revaluation deficit over the balance on the investment property
revaluation reserve would be changed to profit or loss.

In the current year, the Group has, for the first time, applied HKAS
40 Investment Property ("HKAS 40"). The Group has elected to
use the fair value model to account for its investment properties
which requires gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties to be recognised directly in the
profit or loss for the period in which they arise. The Group has
applied the relevant transitional provisions in HKAS 40 and elected
to apply HKAS 40 from 1 April 2005 onwards.

The directors considered it is impracticable to restate the carrying
amount of the investment properties to their open market value
as at 1 April 2004 due to the lack of available information on
valuation. No effect on equity has been recognised as a result of
this reclassification.

The comparative figures have been restated to reflect this
reclassification and details are set out in note 3A.

This reclassification has had no significant impact on net profit or
loss for 2006.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS/CHANGES IN

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND OTHER RESTATEMENT

(Continued)

Restatement of properties held for sale as investment

properties (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new standards,
amendments, and interpretations that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKAS 1
(Amendment)
HKAS 19
(Amendment)
HKAS 21
(Amendment)
HKAS 39
(Amendment)
HKAS 39
(Amendment)
HKAS 39 &
HKFRS 4
(Amendments)
HKFRS 6

HKFRS 7

HK(IFRIC) — INT 4

HK(IFRIC) - INT 5

HK(IFRIC) - INT 6

Capital disclosures

Actuarial gains and losses,
group plans and disclosures 2
Net investment in a foreign
operation 2
Cash flow hedge accounting of
forecast intragroup transactions 2
The fair value option ?

Financial guarantee contracts 2

Exploration for and evaluation of
mineral resources 2

Financial instruments: disclosures '

Determining whether an
arrangement contains
a lease 2

Rights to interests arising from
decommissioning, restoration and
environmental rehabilitation funds 2

Liabilities arising from participating
in a specific market — waste
electrical and electronic
equipment *

65
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE_ZTRF=ZA=T—HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 3. ERASFEMBEHRLERN FHBKZ
REPORTING STANDARDS/CHANGES IN SEHRHAMEY ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND OTHER RESTATEMENT
(Continued)
Restatement of properties held for sale as investment BIFFHEYERREYE (@)
properties (Continued)
HK(IFRIC) = INT 7 Applying the restatement approach &% ERmBES EREEE: LR
under HKAS 29 financial reporting REZE®) 295 [BIHRE
in hyperinflationary economies * —REETH WIREERT
WE| 28555
HK(IFRIC)- INT 8 Scope of HKFRS 2 5 B EREKRE  BAMBREEAE
2EBZEY) 25k EBES
—REE8T
HK(IFRIC)- INT 9 Reassessment of embedded derivatives © R ERRERE  BRIERARE
2EBZE8) TAHS
— 2R
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. ' ERRZEEEF— A —ASMERR 2
FEHAR -
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006. 2 EARZEERF—A—HIAERBZ
FEHAR -
* Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 December 2005. S EARZEERF T A —HIAMERA
ZFEHRR -
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2006. f EARZEEARF=A—HIAERBZ
FIEHAR -
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 May 2006. S EARCZEENFRA—BHIAMERBZ
FIEHAR -
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2006. ¢ BANZZEENFNA—BHIAMERBZ
FIEHAR -
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3A. SUMMARY OF THE EFFECTS OF THE CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The effects of the changes in the accounting policies described
above on the results for the current and prior year are as follows:

B %5 3R MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE-_ZTTRF=ZA=+—HILFE

. BHRREHCERE

EREHBREPHAFER R
REREINT

2006 2005

—BEAE _—"TTHEHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT

Decrease in amortisation of goodwill [k 537D 2,198 =
Recognition of share-based RO 2 TR BREZ

payment as expenses (9,307) =

Recognition of discount on YNy

acquisition of subsidiaries 2,812 -

Change in fair value of convertible notes ~ FJ & (EH A FEE (117,800) -

Decrease in profit for the year RE R AR (122,097) -

An analysis of the decrease in profit for the period by line items
presented according to their function is as follows:

H08 B 2 T 2517 IR B A EIRD i
Rl 2 HITT -

2006 2005

—BEXRE "TTRHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT T

Increase in other income H I ASE HN 2,812 -
Increase in administrative expenses TR 238 AN (7,109) =
Change in fair value of convertible notes  FJ & (EH A FEE (117,800) -
(122,097) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE_ZTRF=ZA=T—HILFE

3A. SUMMARY OF THE EFFECTS OF THE CHANGES IN 3A. BERREEREEE (|
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The cumulative effects of the application of the new HKFRSs as RZZEZRF=A=+—HR_ZEZ
at 31 March 2005 and 1 April 2005 are summarised below: FUA—R - FHASE SRS 4R 'J
ZRET BT
Retrospective Prospective
EHER RAER
Effectof  Effectof Restatement Effect of
At HKAST  HKAS17 of properties At HKAS 39 At

JIMarch HAEE  RAEE held 31March  RAEE 1 April
2005  £iEE  e5EA  forsales 2005  EifEE 2005
RZBZ1f 15 F171% Bl R-E31F 3% W-5B1f
ZA=t-A pd . ¥e  HENE =R=t-H %8 WE-A
HKS000  HKS000  HKSOOO  HKS00O  HKS00O  HKS00O  HK$000
ATr  A¥fr  A%Tr  BETn BT AT BBt

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
EEL) (8 E5) (8 E5)
Balance sheet items affected: HEERBRTHE/FE
Property, plant and equipment EN e 119,198 - (5,063) - 11413 - 1141%
Investment praperties RENE - - - 48138 48138 - 48138
Prepaid lease payments- non-curent SIS - - 4,960 - 4,960 - 4,960
Goodwil e 38895 - - - 38% - 3889
Investments in securies FARE 190 - - - 190 (190) -
Available-for-sale nvestments A ERE - - - - - 190 190
Prepaid lease payments- curent — HIEE(ES - - 103 - 103 - 103
Other assets and liabilies AtBERAE 9116 - - (8I%)  (3902) - (%9022)
Totel effects on assets and ibiltes ~ HEERAEzF 24 167399 - - - 167399 - 167399
Share capital and other resenes AR EA R 283587 - - - 283587 - 283587
Share premium B 30856 - - - 30856 - 30856
Accumulated losses ZiER (148878) - - - (148878) - (148878)
Minorty interests DR ER - 1,834 - - 1,834 - 1,834
Totel ffecs on equity HEnlYRt: 165,565 1,834 = - 167399 - 167399
Minority interests SURRER 1834 (1,834) - - - - -
167399 - - - 167399 - 167399
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For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE-_ZTTRF=ZA=+—HILFE

3A. SUMMARY OF THE EFFECTS OF THE CHANGES IN 3A. ERTRREBEEE (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

R E M GRS RN AR EEN =
TENFNA— A2 B ER

The financial effects of the application of the new HKFRSs to the
Group's equity at 1 April 2004 are summarised below:

Agny
Effect of
As HKAS 1
originally RAEE As
stated SR restated
B3 S EgE KEY
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ST BT T BT
Share capital and other reserves A& AR Ko EL At {5 45 196,180 = 196,180
Share premium abayinki} 9 - 9
Accumulated losses RETEE (163,121) - (163,121)
Minority interests DEAR RS - 274 274
Total effects on equity WS 7 B AGT 33,068 274 33,342
Minority interests DER R 274 (274) -
33,342 — 33,342
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES TEEBE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment properties and
certain financial instruments, which are measured at fair values,
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March each year.

A SRR IR BRI AE R
(2 BB BREERITREL « b5h -
GAMBRADIEEEHA X SHER
DEEH LRBIRE SR AN ZE
AR -

AR B TSR RIKIRE L AN iR EE
B EETIARTHEFEZREDMER
TR T ARSI - BREARASENA TS5
BUR °

RERBEEE
REMBHRREESARRNENB AT
BESF =A==t BHILFEZHER
*o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B % R M

For the year ended 31 March 2006

HE—

BENF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated income statement from the
effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal,
as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with those used by other members of the Group.

All inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries
are identified separately from the Group's equity therein. Minority
interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of
the original business combination and the minority's share of
changes in equity since the date of the combination. Losses
applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in
the subsidiary's equity are allocated against the interests of the
Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover
the losses.

Business combinations

The acquisition of subsidiaries after 1 April 2005 is accounted for
using the purchase method as set out in HKFRS 3. The cost of
the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at
the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instrument issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to
the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for
recognition under HKFRS 3 are recognised at their fair values at
the acquisition date.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree initially
measured at the minority's proportion of the net fair value of the
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

EEREATRER (W)

FEREEE (8
RAFENFEESHE 2B AR
FRHeEiRGRakERA - X5 5
BHWE 2 £ B A E RN
EZEMARLE GER) -

FEA R - BB AR 2 MEHRAIE
B E &5 R AR B A
BRAMRAE B -

ERASARBEZ RS - &k K
ARRXEEGARAR TIAYEH -

LB REREE CERAHBARE
EFERRE AEAREENELS D FHE
5l o LEERERFTE EEFEBRR
REBEHAMNZSREESR - UK
Batt AR DB R EEN DS
g - DEIRREIGEEEL D BIRE
(EERIEPNGIL Fa e aiyaes S Faa)
3 ERDBBRRABHORNEERE
BRENMEHBRIMTE AR Z SR EE
BRI o

ES =

R-ZTZRFMA—B 2 RKEHRER
AR IR BB IS R F 3R IRA
BEERIDAAR ° WA
ERMGRTZEE  MEANAREZA
& - NRARE SR KB R
BIIBRATAZAHE - SIEHAH
HERRBEZEAKRATE - FEEBHM
B EERIE IR R < BB
AlZAIHBIEE - AERAREE - 19
DAWEE B 2 A FHERER -

DEBERNBUE A B 2 R
BRNEHERAIBRIEE - BERK
RABZAFFENBDLLFE -
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1 April 2005

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary or an associate
for which the agreement date is before 1 April 2005 represents
the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's interest in
the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the relevant
subsidiary and associate at the date of acquisition.

For previously capitalised goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to
1 April 2005, the Group has discontinued amortisation from 1
April 2005 onwards, and such goodwill is tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the cash
generating unit to which the goodwill relates may be impaired
(see the accounting policy below).

Goodwill arising on acquisitions on or after 1 April 2005

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary or an associate
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary or associate recognised
at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an
asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of subsidiaries is
presented separately in the balance sheet. Capitalised goodwill
arising on an acquisition of associates is included in the cost of
the investment of the relevant associates.

B %5 3R MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2006
BE-ZZRF=RA=T—HILFE

FEE R (]

[

g

R-_BERFA—HEKEBEL
ZHE
WEERAR—TTERFMA—ARKE
ERIEFNCIVSE N fa S =if2 =1
FBE AU A EAASENKEE R
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RABAFEZESZERE -
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ER-TTRFA— &I
MAERESEFINAENRBERDE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2006

HE—

4.

BENF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisitions on or after 1 April 2005
(Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. Cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently whenever there is an indication that
the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in the consolidated income statement. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary or an associate, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised are included in the
determination of the amounts of profit or loss on disposal.

The Group's accounting policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate is described under “investments in
associates”.

Excess of an acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of
an acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over cost (“discount on
acquisitions”)

A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary
or an associate for which an agreement date is on or after 1
January 2005 represents the excess of the net fair value of an
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over the cost of the business combination. Discount on acquisition
is recognised immediately in profit or loss. A discount on acquisition
arising on an acquisition of an associate (which is accounted for
using the equity method) is included as income in the
determination of the investor’s share of results of the associate in
the period in which the investment is acquired.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. Under the equity method, investments in associates
are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted
for post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of the profit or
loss and of changes in equity of the associate, less any identified
impairment losses. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group's net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An additional
share of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is
recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying
amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part
of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profit and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest
in the relevant associate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006

HE—

4.

BENF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised upon completion of pipeline construction,
which according to industry practice in the region coincides with
the “fire ignition ceremony”.

Revenue arising on the sales of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and title has passed.

Rental income from property letting under operating lease is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any identified
impairment losses.

Construction in progress represents assets under construction,
which is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if
any. Cost comprises direct attributable costs of acquisition or
construction which include capitalised borrowing costs.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category
of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of assets, other than
properties under construction, over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account their estimated residual value, if any,
using the straight-line method.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the item) is included in the income statement in the year in
which the item is derecognised.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method.

Investment properties

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured using the fair
value model. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment property are included in profit and loss for
the period in which they arise.

Impairment losses (other than goodwill)

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets (other than goodwill
which is disclosed above) to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as
an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another accounting standard, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease
under that accounting standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another standard, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase
under that other accounting standard.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006

BE
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument and are initially
measured at fair value.

Financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated or not classified as any of the other categories. At
each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition at cost,
available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value.
Changes in fair value are recognised in equity, until the financial
asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which
time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity
is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. Any
impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses on available-for-
sale equity investments will not reverse in subsequent periods.

For available-for-sale investments that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, they are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at each
balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition. An
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is
objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the asset and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses
will not reverse in subsequent periods.

Receivables

Trade and other receivables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Appropriate
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised
in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Pledged bank deposits

Pledged bank deposits are short-term deposits and are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value and are measured
subsequently at amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value and are measured at cost
or amortised cost.

Financial liabilities

Payables (other than bank borrowings)
Payables including trade and other payables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Bank borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially measured
at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or
redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the
borrowings in accordance with the Group's accounting policy for
borrowing costs.

Convertible loan notes

Convertible bonds issued by the Company (including related
embedded derivatives) are designated as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss on initial recognition. At each balance
sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, the entire convertible
notes are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the
convertible notes designated as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value
on the contract date, and are remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that
do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in profit or
loss as they arise.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial
asset, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in
profit or loss.

For financial liabilities, they are removed from the Group's
consolidated balance sheet (i.e. when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires). The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration received or receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Where the Group is the lessor, rentals receivable under operating
leases are credited to income statement on a straight-line basis
over the relevant lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating
leases are charged to income statement on a straight-line basis
over the relevant lease term. Benefits received and receivable as
an incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised as a
reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years, and it further excludes
income statement items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is recognised using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using
the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
(or negative goodwill) or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006
BEZTRF=A=1+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the income
statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with

in equity.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the balance sheet date, and their income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised as a separate component of equity (the translation
reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed off.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 April
2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance
sheet date. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisitions of
foreign operations prior to 1 April 2005 are treated as non-
monetary foreign currency items of the acquirer and reported
using the historical exchange rate prevailing at the date of the
acquisition.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing cost directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the
assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing ceases when these
qualifying assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

All other borrowing cost are recognised as expenses in the period
in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006

HE—

BENF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payments

Share options granted to employees of the Group

The fair value of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated profit or loss.

Retirement benefit costs— Defined Contribution Plans
Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund/Staff-managed
retirement benefit scheme are charged as an expense as they fall
due.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which gooduwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31
March 20086, the carrying amount of goodwill is HK$42,542,000.
No impairment loss has been recognised as, in the opinion of
the management, the relevant projects of the Group will have
sufficient cash flows generated from connection fees and gas
sales. Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed
in note 18.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Income taxes

As at 31 March 2006, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$35,533,000 available for offset against future profits. No
deferred tax asset in relation to unused tax losses has been
recognised in the Group's balance sheet due to unpredictability
of future profit streams. In cases where there are future profits
generated to utilise the tax losses, a material deferred tax assets
may arise, which would be recognised in the income statement
for the period in which such future profits are recorded.

Share option benefit expenses

The share option benefit expense is subject to the limitations of
the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the uncertainty in
estimates used by management in the assumptions. The estimates
include limited early exercise behavior, expected interval and
frequency of open exercise periods in the share option life, and
other relevant parameters of the share option model.

Fair value of convertible bonds

The fair value of the conversion option element of the convertible
bonds was calculated using the Binomial model. The model
involves assumptions on the Company's credit spread, discount
rate, expected credit rating and future cash flows. Should these
assumptions change, there would be material changes to the
valuation.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables,
bank borrowings, convertible notes and bank overdrafts. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies applied by the Group on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on
a timely and effective manner.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Currency risk

With most of the Group's significant operations located in the
PRC, it derives most of its revenue in Renminbi (“‘RMB") and
most of the expenditures as well as capital expenditures are also
denominated in RMB. Management considers the Group has no
significant currency risk exposure and will consider to use any
hedging derivative when the situations require.

Credit risk

The Group's financial assets are trade and other receivables,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances, the amounts of those
assets stated in the consolidated balance sheet represent the
Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade and other
receivables, the management of the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at each balance sheet
date to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk in relation bank balances is limited because the
majority of the counterparties are financial institutions and banks
with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Business segment
For management purposes the Group is currently organised
into four operating divisions— supply of natural gas, gas
pipeline connection, glass product, property holding and
investment. These divisions are the basis on which the
Group reports its primary segment information.

An analysis of the Group's revenue and contribution by
business segment during the year is as follows:

Supply of Gas pipeline Glass Property holding
natural gas connection product and investment
HERRR BhnREE BEER ES

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
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Discontinued operations
BRLEE
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. SERHG)
(a) Business segments (Continued) (@) ¥EXB2E @
Discontinued operations
BRLEH
Building Packaged/

Supply of Gas pipeline Glass Property holding services design and Environmental
natural gas connection product and investment (single-trade) build contracts ~ engineering services  Consolidated
HERRE BEMREE KRER UERERRE  ETREEEIR)  BE/RMBESN  RRIE Ee

006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Geographical segments

For the year ended 31 March 2006, over 90% (2005:
over 90%) of the Group's sales are made in the PRC and
over 90% (2005: over 90%) of the Group's assets are
situated in the PRC. Accordingly, no segmental analysis of

geographical segments is presented for the year.

TURNOVER

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year, for both continuing
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and discontinued operations, is as follows: REKIEEB)WT
2006 2005
—BEXRE _"TTHHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BYTT BT T
Continuing operations FEREED
Supply of natural gas HERAR 90,533 28,632
Gas pipeline connection ERMREE 129,271 41,738
Glass product TR 2 o 19,076 6,680
Property holding and investment MERB RIRE 1,727 2,293
240,607 79,343
Discontinued operations B IEE
Building services EFEE - 309
Packaged/design and build contracts BE REATREEN - 419
Environmental engineering services IRIRTIR - 1,009
240,607 81,080
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9. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 9. HMEEWKA
2006 2005
—EBRE _—ITTHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥T T BETFT
Other operating income Hip L WA BTEATRIE
comprises the following:
Sales of equipment HE R 331 178
Interest income F WA 657 433
Compensation from supplier HER RSB 1,957 =
Subsidy income HRGUA 1,542 477
Written off of long-outstanding s R BARE I R
account payables 647 -
Surplus fund of scheme of BERERLTERHRES (W)
arrangement (Note) 10,746 -
Discount on acquisition of subsidiaries W& A &% 2,812 -
Others Hth 97 547
18,789 1,635

Note: In prior years, the Company entered into a debt restructuring and
share subscription agreement with Wonderland Development
Limited, the former holding company of the Group. The scheme
of arrangement was set up to repay the debt owing. During the
year, this scheme had been finalised by the appointed administrator
after all claims had been fully settled and therefore, the surplus
funds were refunded to the Company.

Hfet © PRBEFE - ARRIEREH A
&~ alWonderland Development
Limited 7]3Z &7 B4 M AL (D R 7
& o EBEELEE IR AEER
RER - FA - RAIARERER
& - REBEAE TR ZTHE -

It BHESEREAAF e

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BBRF

2006 2005
ZEERE "TTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Interest on convertible notes AR IR 2 FILE 1,063 -

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts: RITERRBEZFE
wholly repayable within five years AR TFERNEHEE 1,799 228
wholly repayable after five years AR RFEBHEER - 413
Interest on other borrowing HiEEFS 45 =
2,907 641

88



Annual Report 2005-2006 #F 3§

11.

NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
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For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE-_ZTTRF=ZA=+—HILFE

11. [RIRAI(BR) &R

2006 2005
—EE2RE —TTHHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BYET T BT T
(Loss) profit before taxation Br#iAl (B518) a2 GrA) Hkr
has been arrived at after TFI&IE ¢
(crediting) charging:
Staff costs BT 22,362 4,910
Retirement benefits schemes RRE B
contributions 879 165
Share-based payment expense AR BEENRFE X 9,307 =
Total staff costs (including directors’ BINALR (BREFHE)
emoluments) 32,548 5,075
Auditor's remuneration Z SRR B & 2,967 1,280
Depreciation e 7,285 1,481
Amortisation of goodwill i - 2,198
Amortisation on prepaid lease payments B 70 & # 5 72 47
Minimum lease payments under HABTREHEE
operating leases for rented premises IR ST 918 392
Loss on disposal of property, HEMZE - BE K& EE
plant and equipment 27 1,941
Cost of inventories recognised EARARAX 2 FEKA
as expenses 19,641 26,174
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts RIZARBE 18 -
after crediting: Wit ATFIBIA -
Interest income FEMA 657 433
Rental income under operating leases, — ZEEHEZHSWA - B
less outgoing of HK$277,000 75 #5277,0007T
(2005: HK$390,000) —TTFHE  BE390,0007T) 1,450 1,903
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12. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES 12. EERESHME

(a) Directors’ emoluments
The amount disclosed below includes directors’ fees of
HK$256,000 (2005: HK$79,000) payable to independent
non-executive directors. None of the directors waived any
emoluments during the year.

(a) ES=E£
X ER 2 & BEE R
FPTES2ESHBE
256,000 0 (ZEZERF : Bl
79,0007T) ° FRMEEENE

EAIBE ©
2006
—BEAE

Retirement

Share benefit

Salaries based- scheme
and payment contributions Total
Name of Fee allowances BRAER E{Rk€ emoluments
directors EEHE HE HekEH

HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT  A¥TR

PATE/ S 1E [75° Y
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BT A¥TRT BT

Xu Ruixin RImET - - - - -
Liu Jing 2R - 772 2,251 - 3,023
Mo Shikang R R - 950 225 - 1,175
Zhu Peifeng REF[E - 928 225 - 1,153
Zhang Hesheng SRANAE - 928 225 - 1,153
Jin Song ESE/N - 124 2,251 - 2,375
Yan Wing Cheung HoKTE - 551 1,472 9 2,032
Liu Junmin 2T R 124 - - - 124
Tan Qinglian EEE - - - - -
Wong Shing Kay, Oliver sk 130 - - - 130
Ong Chi King FFAR - 192 2,251 5 2,448
Siu Man Po BOR 2 - - - 2
Wang Ke Duan F o im - - - - -
Tjia Boen Sien B - - - _ _
Wang Jing Ning FRE - - - - -
Keung Kwok Cheung ~ ZEI - - - - -
Kong Kwok Fai T EiE - - - - -
Wong Sin Yee =& - - - - _

256 4,445 8,900 14 13,615
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(Continued)

(@)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

12. EFREEME (8

() E=M= @

2005
—ZETRHF

Retirement

benefit

Salaries scheme
and contributions Total
Name of Fee  allowance RUkE  emoluments
directors EEHA BE  Fre kRl FTEIf mEHe
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB T BT BT BT
Mo Shikang Bt - 550 - 550
Zhu Peifeng KIER - 18 - 18
Zhang Hesheng SRANAE - 18 - 18
Song Sio Chong R/ - 53 - 53
Tjia Boen Sien EIp e - 590 11 601
Ong Chi King FFAR - 20 - 20
Wong Shing Kay, Oliver & 20 - - 20
Siu Man Po RRSOR 59 - - 59
Wang Ke Duan I 520 = = - =
Wang Jing Ning ErRE - - - -
Keung Kwok Cheung ~ Z=BEI# = = = =
Kong Kwok Fai LB E = = - -
Wong Sin Yee B - - - -
79 1,249 11 1,339
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12. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES
(Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group in 2006 were
all directors of the Company and details of their emoluments
are included in note (a) above. In 2005, of the five
individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, four
were directors of the Company whose emoluments are
disclosed in note (a) above. The emoluments of the
remaining one was as follows:

12.

EXREAMS (W)

(b)

REFMERAL
—ETRFAEE LR RS H
ATBREARARMBES ME
EZMEFITE R X (@)
B-N_ZTHF  rEEEE
BeFMALeREARRNEE
= EBEFECHMEFBERMEL
X@FE - Ep— B AT ZHE
e

HK$'000

T TT

Salaries and allowance e MoERh 96
Retirement benefit scheme BRIREEEIHR

contributions 1

97

For the years ended 31 March 2006 and 31 March 2005, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors or the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
directors has waived any emoluments during both years.

13. TAXATION

13.

BE_ZTAF=-A=+—HR=-ZZT
AF=A=+t—HLFE  TREHRE
*fie FEFHAUSEHHMAL -
YERNERAER M 2 B2 S 1 A i R 1
B o BHARE S ROmE S A R AT

& o
&

M=

2006 2005
—FEAF TTEF
HK$'000 HK$'000

BETFT BT

The charge comprises: X HBERE
Current tax BIEAR IR

PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR EPTIST
Taxation attributable to the RRRIREKB AR

Company and its subsidiaries JE(R IR

19,400 11,603

19,400 11,603
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13.

NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TAXATION (Continued)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the
financial statements as the Group did not have any assessable
profit in Hong Kong for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Pursuant to the relevant law and regulations in the PRC, certain
Company's PRC subsidiaries are entitled to exemption from PRC
Enterprise Income Tax for two years commencing from their first
profit-making year of operation and thereafter, they are entitled
to a 50% relief from PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the following
three years. During the year, Enterprise Income Tax has been
provided in the financial statements for two of the PRC subsidiaries
at 50% of the applicable tax rate as it is under the income tax
relief. Pursuant to Guoshuifa (1994) No. 209, Chongging
Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd. and LongXin (Yan Ting) Natural Gas Co.,
Ltd. were exempted from PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the year
ended 31 March 2006. For other PRC subsidiaries they were
subject to an income tax rate of 33% on their taxable profits.

Details of the deferred tax liabilities are set out in note 30.

B %5 3R MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE-_ZTTRF=ZA=+—HILFE

13. RIA (18)

HRAEEARFE R FFEGWERE
BB ERTOEN] - SRR B K
R EENSHEME -

EXBEMRIEER 2 RHIBIRA R RDE
R RITHEE -

BEPBRBBERRAN - KAFET
BB A R AR B K S EERFEE
R RN EEFEHME - M
Hig =FRIGREREHMN50%FEH
REEFTISH « RANFE - AP —fRHPE
ME A REZFIEIES - BUZERH
50007 Bl 75 2= B H 1 £ P15 B 3
{8 o IRIEEFLEE(1994)2095% @ EREH
RURBRARRE=ERRTERE
TRARERRBNEE_TTE=A
=+—HIFEZHRRCEANMER - H
i R B B A ) B B L FE AR 1 A
33% 2 FT{S T = o

BIERIRBE 2 A B ER M EE30 -
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13. TAXATION (Continued) 13.

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the
consolidated income statements as follows:

MR ()

AN
N

Wt gk 2 m MBS 2 BIR AR
L

2006 2005
—BEAE —ZTThHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(Loss) profit before taxation Fr#i Al (B518) )& 7 (35,711) 27435
Tax at the applicable tax rate RERBHE33% 5 E 2 1A
of 33% (2005: 33%) (ZZTHF : 33%) (11,785) 9,053
Tax effect of share of results of associates D {HES A T SE4E 2 TSR 2 (215) (747)
Tax effect of income not taxable in & TE FE SR A BB R
determining taxable profit WAZ BRI E (4,708) (747)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible R B2 R 8
for tax purpose 43,236 4,521
Tax loss not recognised RERZ BIAEE 11,000 726
Tax effect of 50% income tax B8 A RIER 50015 81
relief granted to subsidiaries BEIMBTE (4,317) (1,863)
Tax effect of exemption granted BN IR TR 2 B
to subsidiaries e (12,934) -
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries ~ M{B R A FNRIF R 2 772 (725) 544
Others HAtb (152) 116
Taxation for the year REFEHIE 19,400 11,603

The applicable tax rate of PRC is 33% as the principle business is
operated in the PRC.
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14.

NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company is based
on the following data:

14.

B %5 3R MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE-_ZTTRF=ZA=+—HILFE

ik (5iR) &2F

ARR L BESHA AR SRELRR
8 (B18) BNRTYIBUREE

2006 2005
“BEXE  _TTAF
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BETIT

Earnings B
(Loss) earnings for the purposes of STEERERRANZ
basic earnings per share (E518) 2 H)

The diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2006
was not presented as the exercise of the share options and
convertible notes outstanding would result in a decrease in loss

(56,061) 15,336

REBE-TTRNF=-A=1T—HILFE
SEEEERYRES - FITED#T
B R AT B E R B 1R

per share. Do
Number of shares
RH#E
2006 2005
ZEERE “ZTTHF
Number of shares R #E
Weighted average number of ordinary AEEREREN BBk
shares for the purposes of basic IS
eamings per share 2,629,455,628 2,524,716,736
ffect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BELRREEYE
— share options —FERE 264,602,000
Weighted average number of ordinary FTEERERRN
shares for the purposes of diluted LR ET 98
earnings per share 2,789,318,736
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14. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 14. S (5R) B2H (@)
Impact of changes in accounting policies and the restatement of EHBRES R ER_TENFHT
figures for 2005: Z &5 :
Changes in the Group's accounting policies and the restatement FANRKEETHR BB R _FTH
of figures 2005 during the year are described in detail in note 3A. i%{?ZEﬁIJ%@E/\\WEBAﬁ it e TR
The following table summarises the impact on basic earnings per B B EARRT 2 HE :
share:
2006
—BEAE
Impact on
basic (loss)
per share
HEREXR (HFB) <28
HK cents
Al
Figures before adjustments AT 2.51
Adjustments arising from changes SRTBRE B EL 2 B
in accounting policies (4.64)
As reported LNEA R (2.13)
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y%  BERSEMK
Furniture, Plant,
fixtures  machinery
and office and
Leasehold  equipment pipeline
improvements i - £B BE Motor  Construction
Building iR ES RH#AZE BER vehicles  in progress Total

g7 & B BB nE HBIE it
HE000  HKSOOO  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOO  HKSOO  HKSO00O
ERTT ARt ARt AMTn BBt Rkt BMEn

THE GROUP 58
cost A
At 1 Aprl 2004 RZFEMEMA-A - 585 1,833 1,65 43 - 4117
Acquiston of subsidiaries  WEEHBA 8,264 - 438 18521 1217 81,287 109727
Addtions £ 167 - 122 7254 38 265 7846
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAA - (585) (1833) (16%6) (43) - @117)
Transfer e 2308 - - 40268 - (42576) -
Disposals i - - - - - (1966) (1,966)
At 31 March 2005 RZEFRE=A=T-A 10739 - 560 66,043 1,25 37010 115,607
Currency realignment ELt 175 - 10 1,080 21 605 1891
Acquisiion of subsidiaries  KERMELA 3,369 - 384 45002 314 55,148 104217
Addiions S 505 47 371 2383 3,362 8,098 15,146
Transfer e - - - 98932 - (98932) -
Transfer to prepaid expenses BTN - - - - - (230) (230)
Disposals j 5 - - - - (106) - (106)
At 31 March 2006 RZZS E=A=t-H 14788 47 1325 213,440 4846 1699 236,525
DEPRECIATION AND FERAE

IMPAIRMENT LOSS i
At 1 Apri 2004 W_ZEMERA-A - 582 1691 1522 43 - 3,83
Provided for the year KERRR 126 - 53 1203 % - 1,481
Disposal of subsidiaries HEREA - (582) (1,700) (152) @) - (3847)
At 31 March 2005 RZZZRE=A=1-H 126 - 44 1,203 9 - 1472
Curency realignment BREH 2 - - 20 I - 3
Provided for the year KERRR 501 2] 191 6,078 494 - 7285
Eiminated on disposal I E RS - - - - (79) - (79)
At 31 March 2006 RZZT E=A=1-A 629 2] 235 7301 515 - 8701
NET BOOK VALUES FERE
At 31 March 2006 RIZEE=A=1t-H 1419 406 109 206,139 433 1699 27824
At 31 March 2005 RZZTRE=A=t-H 10613 - 516 64,840 115 37010 114,135
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15. V%  BER®RK )

EatE - BB RRER B JIABARE
BTIIFERFE

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of 40 years or the BT A0FH BB AT
operation period of the relevant KL HABR
company (AR & RAE)

Leasehold Over the shorter of the terms of the MAMERE HOHRSF

improvement leases, or 5 years (ARG E BE)

Furniture, fixtures and 20% - EER 20%

office equipment N
Plant, machinery 2.5% — 20% B - #2%  2.50%Z20%
and pipeline RE®E
Motor vehicles 20% A 20%
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. ®BEME
HK$'000
BT T
Fair value of investment properties REWERNTE
At 1 April 2004 (reclassified from R-_ZTZMFHA—H
properties held-for-sale) (B ELEMEEN D 54,138

Decrease in fair value during the year FARFERD (6,000)

At 1 April 2005 RZZETRFMA—H 48,138

Disposals s (41,154)

At 31 March 2006 R-ZBERF=A=t—H 6,984

Detail of geographical locations and tenure of investment KEMZEZ IR E RFHFIFOT

properties were:

2006 2005
—BEXE —ZTThHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
China Mainland — leases between FRE AN — HER
10 to 50 years 105 ZE505F 6,984 48,138
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The Group leases out certain investment properties under
operating leases, for an initial period of one to two years, with an
option to renew on renegotiated terms.

As at 31 March 2005, the Group's investment properties
amounting to HK$4 1,569,000 were pledged to secure bank loans
granted to the Group.

None of the leases include contingent rentals. During the year
ended 31 March 2006, the gross rental income from investment
properties amounted to approximately HK$ 1,727,000 (2005:
HK$2,293,000).

As determined by an independent qualified valuers, Bl Appraisals,
the valuation of the investment properties on 31 March 2005
had a total value of HK$62,400,000, which was different from
the carrying book value of HK$48,138,000 because the Group
took into consideration a subsequent sale of the investment
properties that reflected a lower price per square foot.

No valuation of the investment properties was carried out on 31
March 2006 because the Group took into consideration a
subsequent sale of the investment properties in April 2006 that
reflect a similar price of the carrying value of investment properties
of HK$6,984,000 held by the Group.

B %5 3R MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE-_ZTTRF=ZA=+—HILFE

16. ¥{EIME (|

AEERBEEHENHETREY
¥ BNHRHBIFE2F - iEER
EXMERIGTES -

N—EERE=A=1+—H  ~&EEZ
BB Y EB41,569,0007TE T
EBRTFAEBIRITERZER -

BEAMAERERAEE - REEZ
TTRNFZA=+—RHILFE - REER
EMEZHRBSRABNEE
1,727,000 (2T RHF : B
2,293,0007T) °

BN & B8 [EHIEBI AppraisalsF
BE RZTTRF=-A=1+—HBKE
WA 2 B EEAB62,400,000
7T WEEEREEHE48,138,000
THER BAASEEZE—HLE
HERRBZIREYENE - Makib &R
RIR 2T FHRER -

N-ZETXEZA=+—B2REME
WH#TEE BAREEEZEE—1H
NZBTNFH AT EEBRRIE
WELE - b SR ERERE
EFFEREMFE CREBEEE
6,984,0007CH8% °
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17. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 17. fAf#E®
The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise: REEAENB SRS
2006 2005
—EBRE —TTAHHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETFT
Leasehold land outside Hong Kong BANINMAE T3
Medium-term lease FRERFR A9 9,103 5,063
Analysed for reporting purposes as: REBHA B
Current portion BNERER (A 366 103
Non-current portion JERNERER 1 8,737 4,960
9,103 5,063

The amount represents medium-term land use rights situated in

ZERIRAI T B 2 A s e R

the PRC.
18. GOODWILL [
2006 2005
—BEANE —ZTThHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
cosT A
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries RUA— BB B A RIESE
and balance at 1 April BN R e 41,093 41,093
Eliminated of amortisation accumulated  HfiBRk 7 SR 402 78 B 16 3 25 2
prior to the adoption of HKFRS 3 F 3P 2 BT (2,198) =
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries R Ui s i J8 2 ) 722 5,659 -
Arising on acquisition of additional E U BT B A Rl RE S ME
interests in subsidiaries mEE 171 =
At end of the year LR 44,725 41,093
AMORTISATION e
At beginning of the year REA] 2,198 -
Charged for the year RNEEHER - 2,198
Eliminated of amortisation accumulated  HfiBRk 7 SR 402 78 B 1 3 25 2
prior to the adoption of HKFRS 3 F 3P 2 BT (2,198) =
At end of the year R - 2,198
CARRYING VALUES ARE{E
At 31 March 2006/2005 R_ZTRE /—ETRF=A=+—H 44,725 38,895
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GOODWILL (Continued)

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more
frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The management considers each subsidiary represents a separate
cash generating unit (“CGU") for the purpose of goodwill
impairment testing. At 31 March 2006, the carrying amount of
goodwill mainly represents goodwill arising from the acquisition
of Main Zhu City Han Wang Natural Gas Co. Ltd., relevant natural
gas assets in Bei Chuan County, Chongging Tong Nan Tongfa Gas
Co. Ltd. and Xin Hua Resources Investment Limited of
HK$2,286,000, HK$1,777,000, HK$1,596,000 and
HK$38,895,000 respectively.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value
in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use
calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates
and expected changes to selling price and direct costs during the
period. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates
that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on
industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct
costs are based on past practices and executions of future changes
in the market.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by management for the next 3
years on an estimated growth pattern at growth rates between
2.34% to 12.45% (2005: 5% to 10%) and a discount rate of
10% (2005: 10%). The financial budgets and growth rates are
estimated accordingly to the stage of each operation with reference
to the development curve of the natural gas industry in the PRC
region. This pattern is consistent with the track record of the
Croup's projects.

B %5 3R MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2006
BE-ZZRF=RA=T—HILFE

(-3 XC )

AEESFRBAMERE - AR

BRAERREEIRE - RIE SRR RIAIR
' -
%EEJ'E S SR ERERIETE

KB AR K — m%ja’ﬁﬁéﬁiﬁ
L  RZTZRF=A=1T—H B2
EORRENE + Z i AUER T TEERA
RBMBAH - k) I\@?*ﬁ@ﬁ%@iﬁﬁ? :
BEMEMRBEERREREER

Xin Hua Resources Investment lelted
i Bl EE 4 B #52,286,0007T * #
#1,777,0007T * #%1,596,0007T %8
#£38,895,0007T °

BeEL BN 2 FIRE S8 ETERE

MEEMERE - A REREEMRAZ
EEERSPNZFEEIRERE -
X - EERERRAZEAEY &
EREMAR RRTIZHEREREEL
FHE AR IR EE A B AL 2 R E R R R
BRI M RREFTRER R B REANRTT
RERTBRAEE - EEREEKANLZ
ﬁﬁ ﬁﬂ&ﬂﬁ?%&ﬁ%m%ZE

N B TR RS IR [E LR AR 3 E AL
2RI HIRIBE R - IR 34%
E12.45% (- BE ﬁi 5%Z 10%)
F10%HFRE(ZEZREF : 10%) H#
T R REREIRSRETER o B
TEE RIBRERIES FTE 2 B - K2
Eh BB R AR T 2 B R AR IEL
et - ERNEANEEEE 2 AE—
@( o
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19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. FR{EBEALTES
2006 2005
—EERE —TTHHF
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BETFT
Cost of unlisted investment R ETIREKA 2,904 -
Share of post-acquisition profit SN E R 652 -
Exchange adjustment bE R B 8 -
3,564 =
The Group acquired 50% of the equity shareholdings of Yin Chuen REER-_ZEZTRFN\AZTMAYE
Zhongmin Gas Company Limited on 24 August 2005. iR RIRR AR A T5000R% # -
Details of the Group's an associate as at 31 March 2006 is as REZZERF=A=+—H 5B
follow: B N RFBENT
Proportion
of nominal
value of registered
capital held
Form of Place of by the Group
business establishment mAKERE
Name of company structure operation #fi&EZAR 2  Principal activities
ARER FHRBRA B3 TR AR P AE 3t EEESL FEER
Yin Chuen Zhongmin Gas Incorporated PRC 50%  Provision of natural
Company Limited iV I gas and gas pipeline
(Formerly known as Yongming construction
Bonerg Natural Gas Co. Ltd.) RERAREIMRE
)P RRR AR AT BRE

(AR K BRBRERARERRA)
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INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Included in the cost of investment in an associate is goodwill of
HK$ 1,379,000 arising on acquisitions of an associate during the
year. This goodwill is attributable to the anticipated profitability of
sales and distribution of gas fuel and related products and the
gas pipeline construction operations. The movement of goodwill
is set out below.

B %5 3R MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2006
BE-ZZRF=RA=T—HILFE

19. FREBIEATEE (1)

Bib i N R A B AN B IR A T R A R T
AR EA 2 9 E 75 %1,379,0007T °
UERE T E R SHE ko HAR R A8
EmARRAREBERFEB AR
Flgeh - B2 EBFIWAT

HK$'000
BT T
cosT B
At 1 April 2005 R=ZZETRFMA—H =
Arising on acquisition of an associate PRI A e i 1 ) T 22 A 1,379
At 31 March 2006 R-BTRF=A=+—H 1,379

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more
frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts of investment in an associate are
determined from value in use calculations. The value in use of
the investment represents the Group's share of the present value
of the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by
the associate, including the cash flows from the operations of the
associate and the proceeds on the ultimate disposal of the
investment.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent years financial budgets approved by management of the
associate on an estimated growth pattern at growth rate of 10%
at discount rate of 10%. The financial budgets and growth rates
are estimated according to the stage of each operation with
reference to the development curve of the natural gas industry in
the PRC region. This pattern is consistent with the track record of
the Group's projects.

AEESFRBAEMERE - HHEIR
BREERIREERE - RIS AT RORR
=0

BrE N EE 2 I E SR AERET
ERE - REZERERTEBEETR
e N B EL 2 ARt ARASR
HE BEREBERREB ISR
RN ERE SR -

REERBCHE R TR EEI &
IMEE s MRTEESR - UIERE10%
RATEE 1000 E 2 B REXFRR
SRETEA o FERIEE RIERRRES
¥ 2 PEER - 2= EMERARIT
¥ 7 BRABGIED R - ERXEARE
EBEE 2 HE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE_ZTRF=ZA=T—HILFE

20.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

19.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's

associates is set out below:

FREBIE X REES ()

REEBENE 2 FHERBAT

2006
ZBEXRE
HK$'000
BT
Total assets BEMETE 5,923
Total liabilities BEERE (1,553)
Net assets BEFEE 4,370
Group's share of net assets of associates  ZN4: [ FE(H B & 1 B) & /558 2,185
Goodwill on acquisition of an associate U iEHE = A 7 2 1,379
3,564
Revenue & 2,914
Profit for the year REEHH 1,304
Group's share of results of REEERIE R E]
associates for the year REFHEE 652
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 20. FIHHERS
2006 2005
—EERE —TTAHHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Unlisted equity investment outside
Hong Kong

FRAINZIE LT
A E

The above unlisted investment represents investment in unlisted

equity securities issued by a private entity incorporated in the

PRC. They are measured at cost less impairment at each balance

sheet date because the range of reasonable fair value estimates

is so significant that the directors of the Company are of the

opinion that their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

104

194 =

A3k LRI B R 2
NEBFIRAT 2 I ETRARS 212
A - ARARAT B HREEA
UBAR AEERBLATETEAR
5t R - BEMR AR A BRI
BB -
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT IN SECURITIES

Investment securities as at 31 March 2005 are set out below.
Upon the application of HKAS 39 on 1 January 2005, investment
securities were reclassified to appropriate categories under HKAS

21.

B 7% R MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE-_ZTTRF=ZA=+—HILFE

EHFRR

R-ZETRF=A=1+—"HZRERH
AT - R-ETRF—A—BER
BEGTERE3I0NE - REEFFE

39. BN BABTRBGTENEINNEA T
ZEBER -

HK$'000

BT

Unlisted equity securities F EHIRARF S 190
INVENTORIES 22. &8

2006 2005

—egsFE  —TTHS

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Raw materials R 1,979 648

Work in progress TR 116 -

Finished goods R 1,729 427

Consumables JHE M 580 291

4,404 1,366

All inventories were stated at costs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. HHRHEMEBUREA
An aged analysis of trade receivables as at the balance sheet B SRBERR N AE RIRER R R A

date, based on invoice date, net of allowances, is as follows: M 2 BREC DA T ¢
2006 2005
—BEXE _—ZTTHEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Current to 90 days BN Z=90H 13,372 1,276
91 to 180 days 91£180H 52 398
181 to 365 days 1812365H 465 132
Trade receivables B S GRIE 13,889 1,806
Deposit paid to Scheme Administrator S f&HEIEE A Z2ZE - 2,614
Advances to third parties E . 19,498 23,800
Payment in advance to suppliers T HEFER 2 B 9,311 4,274
Deposit paid for investments AR ERS 18,391 2,272
Others Hit 5,395 7,675
Total A% 66,484 42,441
The Group allows a credit period ranging from 30 to 90 days to REBBKTEFLZEEEHHI0OEE

its customers. HAZE o
The fair values of the Group's trade and other receivables at 31 RZZFEREF=A=1—H  ~x&H&
March 2006 approximates to the corresponding carrying amounts. 5 REMEWIE 2 AT EEEREE
ME o
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24.

An aged analysis of trade payables as at the balance sheet date is

B %5 3R MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE-_ZTTRF=ZA=+—HILFE

W5 R HMEARE

B RMNERRGEE B ZRE D0

as follows: T
2006 2005
—BEXRE "TTHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Current to 90 days EEFZ90H 2,990 6,492
91 to 180 days 91£180H 55 361
Over 180 days #1180H 1,893 290
Trade payables FERTE B ERK 4,938 7,143

Deposits received from WMEF 2R

customers (Note) (K1z%) 5,583 44,199
Rental deposits received WE e 175 350
Accruals fEFTE M 14,186 1,280
Others Hity 443 7,053
25,325 60,025

Note: Deposits received from customers represent the gas pipeline
connection fee received but the pipelines have not yet been
completed.

The fair values of trade and other payables determined based on
estimated cash flows discounted at prevailing market rate at the
balance sheet date approximate to the corresponding carrying
amounts.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE_ZTRF=ZA=T—HILFE

25. BANK BORROWINGS 25. SRITHR

2006 2005
S
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Bank loans, secured RITER - HIEA 11,518 21,007
Bank loans, unsecured IRITE - EIEHE 19,553 =
31,071 21,007

Bank loans repayable: AR THREERIRITER -
Within one year or on demand —F N ESRAEF 28,264 9,922
In the second year REZF 2,807 969
In the third to fifth years, inclusive RE=ZZAF (BREEEWF) - 3,262
Over five years & - 6,854
31,071 21,007
Portion classified as current liabilities SEARBAEIG 28,264 9,922
Long term portion REAEB 2,807 11,085

All bank loans (secured and unsecured) are fixed rate borrowings
of which interest rates are in the range of 1% to 10.04% per
annum (2005: ranging from 5.58% to 6.1380%).

The directors of the Company consider the carrying amount of
the Group's bank loans within one year approximate their fair
value and estimate the difference between carrying amount and
fair value of bank loans due after one year as insignificant.
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FrasRITE R (B8 R ) AR
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For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE-_ZTTRF=ZA=+—HILFE

26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. B&=*F
2006 2005
—EEXRE —ZTTAHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Authorised: JERE

4,999,999,999 (2005: 4,999,999,999) 4,999,999,999 f& (ZTTH4F :
shares at HK$0.07 (2005: HK$0.07) 4,999,999,999%) FixEE

each E¥E0.07 L (ZETREF ¢
7S #50.0770) 350,000 350,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRERE
2,885,559,946 (2005: 2,614,715,736)  2,885,559,946f% (—ZZH4F :
ordinary shares of HK$0.07 2,614,715,736/%) SREE
(2005: HK$0.07) each 007 (ZEZTRE ¢
PE150.077T) 2 E AR 201,989 183,030
Number of
Notes  ordinary shares Amount
k2 ZRREE ot |
HK$'000
BEETIT
Authorised: VEE
At 31 March 2005 and R_ZEERF=A=+—HEK
at 31 March 2006 —EERF=A=1t—H 4,999,999,999 350,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRARE :
At 1 April 2004 R-ZZNFEIPA—H 1,519,715,736 106,380
Issue of shares for BRI B A B R B A R
acquisition of a subsidiary TR
and associates 0] 370,000,000 25,900
Placement of shares =) (i) 400,000,000 28,000
Subscription of shares R (i) 325,000,000 22,750
At 31 March 2005 RZZERF=A=+—H 2,614,715,736 183,030
Issue of shares upon exercise 1T B2 % ERF
of share options BT (iv) 36,000,000 2,520
Issue of shares upon BRI RE
conversion of BT
convertible notes v) 234,844,210 16,439
At 31 March 2006 RZEEF=A=+—H 2,885,559,946 201,989
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

®

(ii)

On 18 February 2004, the Group entered into agreements with
independent third parties to acquire an aggregate 49% equity
interest in Xin Hua Resources Investment Limited and its related
shareholder’s loan for HK$29,500,000 (the “Xin Hua Acquisition”).
The consideration was satisfied by way of issuing 295,000,000
shares in the Company at HK$0.10 each.

On 18 February 2004, the Group also entered into an agreement
with Deson to acquire the entire issued share capital of Penmark
Limited (“Penmark”) and its related shareholder's loan at a
consideration of HK$7,500,000 (the “Penmark Acquisition”). The
consideration was satisfied by issuing 75,000,000 shares in the
Company at HK$0.10 each to Deson or its nominee. The Company
also granted Deson's nominee an option to subscribe for one option
share for every two shares issued at the option exercise price of
HK$0.105 per option share.

The above transactions were approved by independent
shareholders and shareholders of the Company at a special general
meeting on 16 April 2004 and completed on 30 April 2004.

The share options granted above will expire on 27 October 2006.

On 18 February 2004, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent to place up to 800,000,000 new
shares in the Company at a price of HK$0.10 per share (the
“Placing”). The placing agent agreed to place to not less than six
independent placees (a) 200,000,000 placing shares on a fully
underwritten basis and (b) 600,000,000 placing shares on a best
endeavours basis. An aggregate of 400,000,000 placing shares
were successfully placed. Pursuant to the placing agreement, the
Company granted each placee a placing option which will entitle
the placee to subscribe for one option share for every two placing
shares subscribed for by the placee at the option exercise price of
HK$0.105 per option share.

The above transactions were approved by independent
shareholders and shareholders of the Company at a special general
meeting on 16 April 2004 and completed on 30 April 2004.

26. Bx% (@)
Bt :
() HoTTmE-—A+\B - KEHESR

(ii)

BYE=FFIME @ WA
29,500,000 T & HXin Hua Resources
Investment Limited 2 & $£49%0 8% &
HEERERER (M Xin Hualg
BE]) o NEBEUZRABE0.10TEITA
A 295,000,000 A% 15 31+

REZZTTNE=—A+/\R - NEEN
BB ET e - WHRREMEER
ARI([RE]) 2B BTREARIAEH
BRRER([RERE]) - RERBE
7,500,0007T ° REAFIRAER0.10
JTRE B S H IR H A %$1775,000,000
BRARRIRD AT o NARINE T
B 2RB AR - FEARRER
1TRMRAR D 7 — D BB ARRERR 1 - REAR
EITEEAETRERES0.105

JT °©

ElRR SR =TT FMNA+/SHA
ZA/NCIE VR SIS SN G AN
gLEmA  WR_ETWFMA="
H7eR °

R RERRAE RS
—+tHEH -

T F1TA

REZZTTNE=A+/\R - AAREE
— R ERE AT ZE S W -
LEREER0. 10 TR EARR A
800,000,000 A% ([ERE =
A - RERBARERE TR
INBEMARA - WIRIA NERRE
(a) A2 BB sHEXERC 200,000,000
A& AR & %15 & (b) bASE ) g B EZE R
#600,000,000 B BLE D » 2
400,000,0000% Bt &5 A% 19 B 4 B T B
& - BB EHE - AR TER
AIL ABLSREARRE - ARAGERE
RS M AR B S AR (0 1 — AR A AR AR
5 - BIREITEE AT IRERER D
B¥50.1057T ©

EMRZ SR —ZETMEMA+/<HA
Z/NCIE AR SIS &N G N
gLEmA  WR_ETWFMA="+
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

()

v

(Continued)

10,000,000 options were exercised on 24 January 2006 and the
average share price of the Company at the date of exercise of
these share options was HK$0.47.

The share options granted above will expire on 27 October 2006.

On 18 February 2004, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with Super Win Development Limited (“Super Win"),
the immediate holding company of the Company. The Company
issued 325,000,000 new shares to Super Win at a price of HK$0.10
per share for an aggregate consideration of HK$32,500,000 (the
“Subscription”). Pursuant to the subscription agreement, Super Win
will be entitled to subscribe for one option share for every two
shares subscribed for at the option exercise price of HK$0.105 per
option share.

The above transactions were approved by independent
shareholders and shareholders of the Company at a special general
meeting on 16 April 2004 and completed on 30 April 2004.

The share options granted above will expire on 27 October 2006.

The Company allotted and issued 10,000,000 shares of HK$0.07
each for cash at the exercise prices of HK$0.105 and 26,000,000
shares of HK$0.07 each for cash at the exercise prices of HK$0.365
per share as a result of the exercise of share options.

In February and March 2006, the convertible notes holder converted
US$10,000,000 convertible notes into 234,844,210 shares of
HK$0.07 each, of which 212,181,816 and 22,662,394 shares were
converted at HK$0.33 and HK$0.3433 per share respectively.

All the above shares rank pari passu in all respects with other

shares in issue.

B %5 3R MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2006
BE_ZTRF-A=t+HLEFE

26. Bx% (@)

fifaz « ()

(i)

(iil)

()

v

(%)

& #£10,000,00007 ERRIER =TT/
F— AT HBETE - MUt SRR
EWATE B B AR 2 FRR(E AHA
#£0.477T °

LL&HﬂZ%HﬁFéEAfY TRETA
—t+tH2H

et S HJrJ\Ei /NI
RRARBEEERAASuper Win
Development Limited ([Super WinJ)
IR E o AR AL FEBE
0.107T 2 (B1& 31 325,000,000%%&
BEFSuper Win  BREESE
32,500,0007t ( ’—u/u\/§$IEJ) RIER
ﬁﬁﬁ%% Super WinE HEAZ AR HE B

KRB E— (D BB AR IR (D - BBAR
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7%4%$&H§$EAH§$¢¢%JK@£
Bl W _ZETWFENA=+H%
B °
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FRREERERITEE - NAFIRITEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2006

HE—

27.

BENF=A=+—HILFE

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Option
Scheme") for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations. Eligible participants of the Option Scheme include
full-time employees (including executive directors) of the Group.
The Option Scheme became effective on 4 April 1997 and, unless
otherwise amended or altered, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Option Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
Option Scheme is limited to 25% of the aggregate number of
shares for the time being issued and are issuable under the Option
Scheme.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28
days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the directors,
and commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a
date which is not later than three years from the date of the offer
of the share options or the expiry date of the Option Scheme, if
earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors at their discretion and will be the higher of a price being
not less than 80% of the average of the closing price of the
shares on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately
preceding the offer date, and the nominal value of the shares of
the Company.

217.

R

ARARAE —ABBRES ([%E
21) - REATE N O R AR 2 )
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10% ° &xZRBHE AR M7
Z AT EITR D 2 B ESRE -
RRIEZATE TR AR EREETR
A[EETTAR (D RS2 2590 ©

RERTREEzZZA BZ AN
B+ N\KA - EBEREARASNE
ERRERE T RIKER - AIREZ
B TENRESET  YEET
SEHREHG  BTRRNMEHER T
BRE Bt =F & I&T32HA
ARBEERE) IE -

ZaTEl ZITRERESHBET - H1T
DR R P iR B R A (ERR 5
B A2 FHE U T (B 2 80% 2 B8 K
ARRBROEEUBSERE) -



Annual Report 2005-2006 #F 3§

217.

NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

On 1 September 2001, the Stock Exchange amended Chapter
17 (Share Option Schemes) of the Listing Rules. In accordance
with the revised rules, it is possible for the Company to grant
further options from its existing scheme only if the options granted
are in accordance with the requirements of the new rules of
Chapter 17. Accordingly to the new rules of Chapter 17, the total
number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company's shareholders. The number of shares
issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and
that may be granted to any individual in any one year is not
permitted exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any point in time, without prior approval from the Company's
shareholders. Options granted to substantial shareholders or
independent non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the
Company's share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million
must be approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

217.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006
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27. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) 27. BEBGHE (18)
The following tables disclose details of the Company's share TEEBRRES (BFEES) BEAARE
options held by employees (including directors) and movements i FIERENZEFBE 2 ZBIE
in such holdings during the year. D e
Name or
category of At Granted Exercised At Date of Exercise
participant 1 April 2005 during during 31 March 2006 grant of period of Exercise price of
SEEME  N-TRIE the year theyear ~ WZZFAE  share options* share options share options**
EitE MA-H FRERE FREfR  ZASt-R BRERLAM BREGRER BREGRE"
Directors
B%
Liu Jing = 26,000,000 = 26,000,000 13 April 2005 12 October 2005 to 0365
AR “ETREMATZE 3 Apri 2007
“ETRETATCAE
“ER+ENA=A
Mo Shikang - 2,600,000 - 2,600,000 13 April 2005 12 October 2005 to 0365
Eitfz “ESREMAT=A  3Apil 2007
“EERETATCRE
“TRLENA=R
Zhu Peifeng = 2,600,000 = 2600000 13 April 2005 12 October 2005 to 0365
KR “ESREMAT=A  3Apil 2007
“EERETATCRE
“ZTrEMA=H
Zhang Hesheng - 2,600,000 - 2600000 13 April 2005 12 October 2005 to 0365
ik ZETREMAT=R 3 Api 2007
“TERETATCRE
“ZErEMA=H
Jin Song = 26,000,000 = 26000000 13 April 2005 12 October 2005 to 0365
i ZETREMAT=R 3 Api 2007
“TRRFTATCRE
“ETErEMA=H
Yan Wing Cheung = 26,000,000 = 26000000 18 November 2005 17 May 2006 to 3 April 2007 0.400
Ly ¢ ZERRET-ATNR ZEESERATLRZ
“ZZHEMA=H
Sub-total = 85,800,000 = 85,800,000
It
Other employees
HftEE
In aggregate = 31,000,000 (26,000,000) 5000000 13 April 2005 12 October 2005 to 3 April 2007 0365
At “ZTTREMAT=A  —ETRETAT-AZE
“ZZrEMA=A

116,800,000 (26,000,000) 90,800,000

3 The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the * Bk BEBARREAPETERERGR
grant until the commencement of the exercise period. 1k

**  The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in o SARATIEETR - BT AN A TR A HIR
the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the H AR B . BRI 4T E R R o
Company's share capital.
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

Total consideration received during the year from employees and
directors for taking up 116,800,000 options granted amounted
to HK$8.

The fair value of the Company's shares at the dates of issue of
share options during the year is HK$0.365 and 0.395 respectively.
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or

to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

These fair values were calculated using The Black-Scholes pricing
model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

217.

B %5 3R MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE-_ZTTRF=ZA=+—HILFE

Ak E (&)

FHRNEEERESEM 16,800,000
B2 B EWE 2 AR EREKS

ﬁo

ERN - AR RIBREETREZ
NFEAEE0.365 T2 HBH0.395
77: °

BRETERTHBAZTEREIIK
RARE LIREZH#R -

I 55 N B Th - FBlack-Scholes E (B 1R
NErHE - ZIEABABELLT -

2005 2005

13 April 18 November

—TTRFE —TTHF

mA+=" +—A+NH

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Weighted average share price INFEF B HK$0.365 HK$0.395
Weighted average exercise price IniEFI91TEE HK$0.365 HK$0.400
Expected volatility T8 B 8 40% 40%
Expected life T8 B 4F B 2 1.37
Risk free rate B ) = 2.951% 4.163%
Expected dividend yield TEHARY B U &S N/A N/A
TNER TERA

The volatility measured at the standard deviation of expected share
price returns is based on statistical analysis of daily share prices
over one and a half years immediately proceeding the grant date.

The weighted average share price of the Company at the dates
of exercise of the share options was at a range of HK$0.530 to
HK$0.590.

PATREAR B Bl AT B 2K IR TIIR
BREZRL BRI —FFAESARE
AT o

HREERRHET T B HiAA A R IR (E
2 EE B E0.5307T 2B 0.5907T °
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28.

BENF=A=+—HILFE

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

The Company issued US$20 million, 2% coupon convertible notes
at a par value of US$1 million each on 28 October 2005 with a
maturity date on 27 October 2008 (collectively referred to as the
“Notes”). The Notes are unsecured and denominated in United
States dollars. The Notes entitle the holders to convert them into
ordinary shares of the Company in the period commencing from
the date falling 2 calendar months after the issue date and ending
on the date 3 weeks prior to the maturity date at the lessor of (i)
fixed conversion price of HK$0.3433 or (ii) floating conversion
price, which is equal to the average of any four consecutive trading
days as selected by the holders during the 30 consecutive trading
days immediately prior to date of conversion. The Company is
entitled to redeem the Notes by paying a premium of 6% per
annum if the closing price of the Company is equal or less than
65% of the fixed conversion price of HK$0.3433 (i.e. HK$0.223
or below). In addition, if the amount of the Notes being converted
is less than USD5 million after six months from the Grant Date or
less than USD10 million after 12 months from the Grant Date,
the Company is entitled to redeem the balancing amount of the
convertibles which is not converted.

If the share price of any 10 consecutive trading days is equal or
less than the 40% of the fixed conversion price, the holders can
require the Company to redeem the Notes. The redemption
schedule is 50% of the Notes to be redeemed within six months
after notice, another 25% within nine months and the balance
amount within twelve months. The Company's circular dated 12
October 2005 contained the details of the terms of the Notes.

As determined by an independent qualified valuer, Vigers Appraisal
& Consulting Limited, no value has been assigned for these
redemption options of the issuer and holder as they are considered
to be insignificant in value.

The Company incurred one-off expenses of HK$10,140,000 for
the issuance of the Notes. Such expenses have been recognised
in the income statement for the year.

28.

Al iRERE

R-ZZERF+A-+N\B  AAFHR
ZMHME1,000,000FLETAHE
20,000,000 Z2%E B AR E
% BHAA—SENF+AZ1+LtH
HFERIER]) - R REERILASE
TLAEE - REE TR AN %R
ZEZBRANATE B - AEITAE
BErEmmEEA 2 BFEE - REIEA
AIER=EE8Z B 1L - BRERIAT
2 EBIRAE AZE() B e R EE10.3433
ToEk (i) Z BN E (RSN EEAR A
HRIB0EEER B HAN - AiFE ARE
ZAEEEEMER 5 A 2 F9E) - AR
AEEYNEER6% 2 nEEEZE
& - WA R R ERSHRSEREE
RAS(EARE0.3433 T (ANA#50.223 T3k
PATR) 265% © b5 - fipA R i B BAfR
e f@R%E  ERBMEERSEERER
5,000,0003 7T + SRR H A BB AT
121 A& 1K 10,000,000% T * A&AAF]
BB MR R IBRESSHR T
B o

i PMER 1 OfEEE R 5 A 2 IREMHRE
REARR EEHAXE 2 40% © FH A
AJESKARA RIIERI R o BEIRE AR
BEFAE6E AN EE50%. 2 2
ofE| A NIE [ S 5M25% K 74 1218 A
BIE#SHE - BARBER I FERER
BARRZZETRAFETA+TZAZE

HANET & BRI ER R EIS T EERT
EBEREARABMERE - WEETAR
FA A BEEZEY EE T EME
B A EEE 2 BERERMT R
3 o

AARABITEL MR RIS
#10,140,0007T ° ZER T ERZE
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30.

NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The functional currency of the Group is Renminbi and the
conversion option of these Notes is denominated in U.S. dollars.
Since the conversion price for the Notes is subject to change, the
conversion will not result in settlement by the exchange of a fixed
number of equity instruments. Therefore, upon application of
HKAS 32 and HKAS 39, it was determined that the Notes do not
contain any equity component and the entire Notes were
designated as “financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss” which requires the Notes to be carried at fair value at the
balance sheet date and the changes in fair values are recognised
in the income statement. During the year, a charge on change in
its fair value of HK$117,800,000 is recognised in the income
statement.

The fair value of the Notes at 31 March 2006 was calculated
using the market value basis. The inputs into the model were as

follows:

Stock price IAE

Exercise price 1T1E(E
Expected volatility TE B 8
Stock borrowing cost Ifh g ERCAR
Expected dividend yield TRHARR B Es
Market yield s Es
RESERVES

The Company did not have any distributable reserves as at 31
March 2006 and 2005.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unrecognised tax losses
of HK$35,533,000 (2005: HK$2,200,000) available to offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the unrecognised tax losses due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams. Such unrecognised tax losses will be
carried forward for five years from date of origination.

28.

29.

30.

B %5 3R MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2006
BE-ZZRF=RA=T—HILFE

A B R R ()

KRR 2R B/ARE  LERE
BRI RIASSTTAEE o R
BER TEE - MRS EBUANERE
ZEBRATAERES - Bt - 1RFA
EREEAEI2RREINRE - K
SEEERRY T SEAREKD
MEFREEET SR AFEAKRE
BmzEBMAE]  RERBARNEER
ARFESNE - EATEZ 8
RAMER - FA - W R AERE AT
EEHELEZNMBRER/ER
117,800,0007T °

R=EEAE= A=+ —AREI AT
AT EEEE o ZHR Y B AE
o

HK$0.57
0577
0.3433
40%
4.31%

0%

6.88%

ot i

N EERNER—EERF=/[=+—
B - AR RNEEEA RS R 2 i o

RERARR

REER - ANEE R AERER R T
2 R ERA A8 A7E 35,533,000
T (ZZEZTRF « B#2,200,0007T) °
BRI T A B - R
RZBBEBBERELERIEEE - 25
REERI ISR B E & A BT
HEF o
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31.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

31. HEMELR

In the prior year, the Group discontinued its provision of electrical RBEFE - N&EERHEKenworth
and mechanical engineering service operations at the time of Groupfs 4% | F IR T TAZARTG R o
disposal of Kenworth Group. On 30 December 2005, the Group NAZETRHFET_A=+H ' ~&E@H
disposed of two subsidiaries, namely Billion Treasure Holdings &Billion Treasure Holdings Limited &
Limited and Bless Honour Limited. The net assets of these Bless Honour Limited FFEII B A A © 5%
subsidiaries at the date of disposal were as follows: MEME QRN HE B2 BE SR
T
2006 2005
—EERE —TTAHHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Net assets disposed of HEEEFE
Investment properties REYE 41,154 =
Property, plant and equipment W - B NRE - 270
Interest in a joint controlled entity R—RHEEEFIERE 2 R - 474
Trade and other receivables B 5N E bW IE 1,456 9,681
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEN R X E A B2 5 - 887
Gross amounts due from contract customers JEIW A L)'= F 4858 - 5,339
Pledged bank deposits BIEPEITER - 5,183
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRIRE 233 1,050
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAMENFRIE (15,824) (7,868)
Retention money payables FEH R BB RIE - (1,353)
Gross amounts due to contract customers  JENA X R F 25 - (4,324)
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FERRZRMB AR SRR - (3,712)
Amounts due to a jointly controlled entity R —RERESIEESHE - (388)
Borrowings BE - (5,448)
Minority interests DERER e - (273)
Net assets (liabilities) disposed of HEEE (BfE) FHE 27,019 (482)
Loss on disposal HEEE (5,519) -
Capital contribution through disposal of FEREEMBART
subsidiaries to former holding company AR A R & - 7,482
Total consideration HBRE 21,500 7,000
Satisfied by: AT A AT
Cash e 21,500 7,000
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEZRSRAFE
Cash consideration HeRE 21,500 7,000
Bank balances and cash disposed of HEZRITHEM RIS (233) (1,050)

21,267 5,950
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ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES/BUSINESS

During the year, the Group acquired several subsidiaries/business
at an aggregated consideration of HK$31,417,000. These
transactions have been accounted for by the purchase method

of accounting.

The net assets acquired, being the fair value, in the transaction,

and the goodwill on acquisition or discount arising, are as follows:

32. EMEBLATE B

31 July 2005

KEEAR  AEBENEKREBEE®
31,417,000TWEEE THIB AR %

1o RER

SENRBEFHEA ©

AR G WE 2 BEE TR (BIAFE) Rk
W R Bk PTE L 2 TR T ¢

31 July 2005

31 July 2005 5 August 2005

“EBRF -BBRF C-BERF C-BEEF
Data of acquisition g 1= tA=t-A +tA=+-A +tA=1+-H NAEA
Percentage of equity interests  FTIKEEARIE (155 12) 100% N/A 100% 80%
acquired (voting rights) ER; ) NEH
Chongging Tong Nan
Mian Zh City Han Wang ~~ Relevant natural gas assets in Tongfa Gas Co. Ltd.
Natural Gas Co.Ltd. Bei Chuan County EETERE FuPing Natural Gas Co. Ltd Total
SHTERRARERAR HIEEERAFEERE EfRARaRLT ETARARRRERLA it
Aequiree's Acquiree's Requiree's Acquiree's Aequiree's
any any any ay any
amount amount amount amount amount

before Fair Value

before Fair Value

before Fair Value

before Fair Value

before Fair Value

combination adjust- combination  adjust- combination ~ adjust- combination  adjust- combination  adjust-

SHHR  ments SHHE  ments SRAH  ments SHEE  ments SHEE  mens

UEAR  AVE Farave WEAE  ATE Farlabe WBAE AVE Farvhe UBAR  AVE Farale WEDE  ATE Fairlalue

BEE #% OVE REE #® OVE REE AR NVE BEE AR NVE REE @E VR

HKS000  HKS000  HKFOOO  HKSO00 HKFOOD  HKSOOO  HKSOOD HKSOO0  HKFOOO  HKSOO0 HKSOOO  HKSOOO  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000

Bifn #fTr A%Tn BMTn RETn RETn RMTT BETn BETn BETn BMTr RMTT MR BETn BT
Propertes, plntand equipment % BEREE 11810 6 18 133 (6) 1627 61883 15 6347 160 (39) 2651 1026% 1520 104217
Peped epament B 08 - om0 -5 3 - 35 8 - 8 4 - 4m
Inventores FE 6/ = i) 4 = 4 761 = Tol DIl - m o 1n 111
Tadeand oferreceivables  ERREMENZE  45% - 459 1T - 178 M9 130 W9 606 -6 BT B M
Brkbdnceandsh ~ BTERREL O T /Y /A ) | SO | 1 S /1
Todeandoherpaybles  ERREMENTE (330) (5) (3765) (%0) - (95%0) (623%8) @238) Qm) - () (@05) (5) (640)
Tueowenblfpacdle)  THE/(EHRE &) - @) - - - - o - o - @
Bk orowings fhiks - ) Qo) (196) - (N%6) (%) - (%) (503) - (15009)

359 (33)  3u1 588 (%) 582 939 1664 10983 10674 (39) 0635 2% 186 30691
Miorty et DelEER - - - Q) Q1)
Coodul BE 2066 17 159 - 5659
Dscourtonacquistn 4Bk - - - (2806) (2606)
Satfed by )R
Cash congideraton RERE 5507 7609 12579 5702 31417
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32. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES/BUSINESS 32. WEEMEBAT, 2% )

(Continued)

HUFBB AR BERABZRES
ERBREFEZANAOT :

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries/assets and liabilities is
as follows:

Relevant
natural gas  Chongqing
Mian Zhu City assets in Tong Nan Fu Ping
Han Wang Natural Bei Chuan  Tongfa Gas  Natural Gas
Gas Co. Ltd. County Co. Ltd. Co. Ltd. Total
@ LG EETEEHS
ERRAR  HBRAR BREMK ETBRAR
BRAR BREE AFAREELT BRERLH wct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Cash consideration ReRfE 5527 7,609 12,579 5,702 31,417
Bank balance and cash acquired WUEESRTAT KRS (185) (77) (3,065) 91 (3,418)
Net cashflow of cash and cash ~ FHIKEEMB LR/ EE
equivalents in respect of HEBEvREER
acquisition of subsidiaries/assets 8 E it F 58
and liabilities 5342 7532 9514 5611 27999

RAUERTmELRARER AT 1t
NFEEBERARBEE ENLEET 2R

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Mian Zhu City Han
Wang Natural Gas Co. Ltd,, relevant natural gas assets in Bei Chuan

County and Chongging Tong Nan TongFa Gas Co. Ltd. is attributable
to the anticipated profitability of the gas pipeline connection
business of the subsidiaries/business.

For Fu Ping Natural Gas Co. Ltd., the management of the Group
has re-assessed the fair values of the assets and liabilities at the
date of acquisition and the discount on acquisition represented
the better bargaining position of the Group.

FBEMRAREEARMEL ZHE
TR EB AR R MR EBRR
EBEMEANME

HEFHERRRAREEAAME » &
SEEEECRKBRENMEHEEE
RaEZAHE - MPGEITERRASE
B 2 R A -
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32.

33.

NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES/BUSINESS
(Continued)

The subsidiaries acquired during the year contributed
HK$101,694,000 to the Group's turnover and a profit of
HK$55,588,000 to the Group's profit before tax for the period
between the date of acquisition and the balance sheet date. If
the acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2005, total group
revenue for the year would have been HK$251,472,000 and
loss for the year would have been HK$52,797,000. The proforma
information is for illustrative purpose only and is not necessarily
an indicative revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been
completed on 1 April 2005, nor is it intended to be a projection
of future results.

32.

B %5 3R MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE-_ZTTRF=ZA=+—HILFE

U RBM B A F, =5 ()

FRKEZHBARRKEBANEEE
HEEAAREE 22 XBARME
101,694,0007T K A5 B2 BTt
FIE B % 55,588,0007T ° fi#a
WIESEN ST RAFHA—HB=EK -

FANEEBIA R BEE251,472,000
TTRFRNEERE AEEE52,797,000
TC o HEERHEVERBAZ R - RUSBES
EERMWEKBEEER-_ZTRF
A —HTERAEEERGEBZ A
RISERE - MTMERERREE TR

Al e

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. BRE&R
2006 2005
—EERF —TTHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Capital expenditure in respect of HEMB AR Z
investment in a subsidiary BARXH
— contracted for but not provided in —BEIR BRI BHREA
the financial statements Bth 30,975 -

On 31 March 2006, the Group entered into an Equity Transfer
Contract whereby the Group agreed to acquire a 51% equity
interest in Wei Nan City Natural Gas Company from Wei Nan City
Development Company (“Vendor”) at a provisional consideration
of RMB33,000,000 (approximately HK$31,942,697), which is
subject to certain adjustments. The vendor will also procure that
the Group will obtain the exclusive right to operate the business
of supplying natural gas within the city of Wei Nan in Shaanxi
province, the PRC. Deposit of RMB1,000,000 (approximately
HK$967,961) had been paid before year end date. At the date of
issue of the annual report, the acquisition had still not been
completed.

REZZBERF=A=+—08 ' ~EEFT
SRS - B AEERERE
EmmmERAAR ((BAH)BABE
MARARAT Z51%E - HENRE
BARE33 000,000 (KB
31,942,6977) ' AIfELETHAE - &
5 IR (E AN B S IB R AE R LA AR
BERRAE B M AL EHERARE
% - REFARRIE XN Z RS AARE
1,000,0007T (#97%#967,9617T) ° KA
FEEARFERAE - ZIBUYEETIARTTA
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34. OPERATING LEASES ARRANGEMENTS

(@)

(b)

The Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment properties, as set out in
note 16, under operating lease arrangements with leases
negotiated for terms ranging from one to two years. The
terms of the leases generally also require the tenants to
pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market
conditions.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had contracted with
tenants for the following future minimum lease payments.

34.

EEHRRH
(@) AEEMER/HBA

AR ERTEL - AEBIRELE
HEZHHBEREDE - &8
AREEFHMA—E2—F  -HE
fFRR— R EREFRERATS
B - BRRELRE MIEEHHE

REHEB - AEEEMEFRIEA
M2 RREEREFRBNT -

2006 2005
—BEXE —ZTTHEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T B IT
Within one year —FRN 240 2,304
In the second to fifth years, E_EFERF (BIEEEMSE)

inclusive 520 904
After five years hFE - 84
760 3,292

The Group as lessee (b) ZAEEBERAEA

Certain office properties leased by the Group are under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms of two years.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

REQEHELH - AEEAM
ETHAEYE - EEa1REN
FHEME -

REEH - AEERETEIUH
RERE 2 RRSEMEE 0k
T

2006 2005

ZEERE —TETLOF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Within one year —F A 1,300 611
In the second to fifth years, FE_ZENF (BREERME)

inclusive 336 520

1,636 1,131
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35.

36.

NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

In April 2005, the Group enrolled all non-PRC employees in a
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group under
the control of trustees. The retirement benefit cost for the MPF
charged to the income statement represents contributions payable
to the fund by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
MPF Scheme.

The Group's subsidiaries operating in the PRC have participated
in defined contribution retirement schemes organised by the
relevant local government authorities in the PRC. All PRC
employees are entitled to an annual pension equal to a fixed
portion of their ending basic salaries at their retirement dates.
The Group is required to make specific contributions to the
retirement schemes at a rate of 12% to 25% percent of basis
salary of its PRC employees and have no further obligation for
post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions made.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the following material transactions with certain
related parties during the year.

35.

36.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006
HE-_ZTTRF=ZA=+—HILFE

RFRFE R

R-_TTRFENA - AEEZHAAIE
hEES2ERFIENTERE (3R
&5t - wESEH B BEEEAKE
XREAFES 2 EESFRA - RiE
RAFOER R RIB A R AN SR B8
BEFERAEE LR ENES ZH]

o
AN

AEERTREEZHBARTE 2P
B Bt ) BUR R 2t 2 E R TUR
Katdl - FFETRESARZAREERN
WERRR A 2 EAHE Z EIREL
PIERENES - AREBRZTEES
EARHE 2 12%ZE25%[RR ARG EI1E
BRI - BRIER 2 FEHFRON -
SR B E AR RIR AR 2 AHE ©

HAMEALZES

AEEENSEETHEADETZEX
ZHMT :

2006 2005
—BEXRE _"TTHHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Rental expense paid to a fellow ERNRAEENE QR
subsidiary HEFZ - 48
Acquisition of subsidiaries from the (haseseli NSl
former ultimate holding company MR A - 7,500
Disposal of subsidiaries to the former [A) Bl B A A AR A R
holding company HEMTE A A - 7,000
Issue of new shares to former holding company  [AIBTEAR A &) 277 #T A% - 32,500
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37. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. XEMRBELAR
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 March REZZERF=A=+—H ' AQRZ
2006 are as follows: FEMBRRFBNOT

Proportion of
nominal value of

Place of registered capital
incorporation/ Capital AEBfisE
operation contributed HEMEREEZ LA Principal
Name of company AR, by the Group Directly Indirectly activities
REEH EXHH rEEITE BE E TEXK
% %
Brilliant China Investments BVI Us$1 100 = Investment holding
Limited RERNES IE REBER
Penmark Limited Hong Kong HK$30 100 = Property holding
SENXBRAT] B AH30T ESSE]
Beijing Zhongmin Cas Co,, Ltd. PRC # US$24,320,000 100 - Investment holding
R RMRERAA] hEl# 24,320,000%7C BERR
Mian Zhu City Han Wang Natural Gas  PRC# RMB1,000,000 - 100 Distribution and supply
Co. Ltd. Fh Bl AKHE1,000,0007T of piped natural gas
[RATERRRRBRAA)] NEREEER
KRR
Mian Zhu City Hong Sen PRC # RMB16,308,800 - 100 Distribution and supply
Natural Gas Co., Ltd. A E# AK#16,308,8007T of piped natural gas
[RAARRARERAERA DHREREBRAR
Mian Zhu City Long Teng Cas PRC # RM7,633,400 - 100 Installation of natural
Installation Co. Ltd. FE# AR#7633,40070 gas distribution facilities
efmERRR 2R EREERR ZERARD R
LongXin (Yan Ting) Natural PRC # RMB3,018,900 - 100 Distribution and supply
Gas Company Limited F Bl AK#3,0189007T of piped natural gas
[ ERERRERAELRA and installation of

natural gas distribution
facilities
DHRHEEEBRAR
REBRRARE BRI
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37. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2006
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FEMBAT ()

Proportion of
nominal value of

Place of registered capital
incorporation/ Capital rEEfRE
operation contributed M EREEZ A Principal
Name of company TR, by the Group Directly Indirectly activities
NEER B AEEITE E# i TEXK
% %
Mian Zhu City Hongsen Glass PRC ## RMBT,000,000 - 70 Manufacturing and sale
Products Company Limited Fh Bl AERH1,000,0007T of glass products
[RALRMRE Sm A R AR HERERBRR
Bei Chuen County Zhongmin PRC # RMB6,000,000 - 100 Distribution and supply
Gas Co. Ltd. B4 AE#6,000,0007T of piped natural gas
Mo EhRRRARAF)] PERBEEBRAR
Chongging Zhongmin Gas Co. Ltd. ~ PRC # RMB4,080,004 - 100 Distribution and supply
[EERRBAERAR] HEl# AR4080,0047T of piped natural gas
(Formerly known as, Chongging Tong and installation of
Nan Tongfa Gas Co. Ltd.) natural gas distribution
(MIREEMERZBRRAAR facilities
BERAR]) DHEREEEBRAR
REZRAREERNE
Fu Ping County Zhongmin PRC ## RMB10,000,000 - 80 Distribution and supply
Gas Co. Ltd. B AE#10,000,0007T of piped natural gas

[ETETRARERLA]

(Formerly known as Fu Ping Natural
Gas Co. Ltd.)
(RIEETHERARARLR)

# Wholly foreign-owned enterprises registered in the PRC.

##  Sino-foreign joint equity enterprises registered in the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during

the year and at the end of the year.

DERBEEBRAR

¥ ORAREEMZAEBELE -
## REEEMZENAELBLE -

FARBEEAFE T  HEARRESE
TEMEEES
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38. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

@

(b)

©

On 28 April 2006, the Company entered into an agreement
with Deson Ventures Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands, for the disposal of Penmark Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant to
the terms of Agreement, Deson Ventures Limited will pay
HK$6,500,000 as consideration and the Company has
assigned the indebtedness owed by Penmark Limited in
the aggregate amount of HK$7,806,848.33 to the Deson
Ventures Limited. This resulted in a loss on disposal of
HK$171,000.

On 30 May 2006, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
Merrill Lynch for the issue of US$40,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$310,000,000) 2% convertible bonds
due 2009 (“Subscription Agreement”). Pursuant to the
terms of the Subscription Agreement, the convertible bonds
shall be redeemed by the Company at 106% of their
principal amount at the third anniversary of the date of
issue. Details of the terms of convertible bonds was set out
in the announcement dated 30 May 2006 issued by the
Company. The convertible bonds were issued on 15 June
2006.

On 1 June 2006, the Company entered into an Equity
Transfer Contract whereby the Company agreed to acquire
a 50% equity associate interest in Yan Bian Hua Xin Oil
Exploitation Company Limited at a consideration of
HK$30,000,000.

Yan Bian Hua Oil Exploitation Company Limited is engaged
in the exploration and extraction of oil and gas in the Yanji
Basin located in the Yan Bian Korean Nation Autonomous
Area in Jilin Province, the PRC in cooperation with Daging
QOilfield Company. Details of the term of the Agreement
was set out in the announcement dated 1 June 2006 issued
by the Company.
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38. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS (Continued)
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©

(Continued)

Because the legal procedures of completing the acquisition
are not yet finalised, management is still in the progress of
gathering accounting information to determine the effect
of business combination on the consolidated financial
statements.

On 8 June 2006, the Group entered into an Equity Transfer
Contract whereby the Group agreed to acquire a 70% equity
interest in a natural gas business at Yanliang District, Xian at
a consideration of RMB42,500,000 (HK$41,062,802) and
formation of new joint venture company. Because the legal
procedures of completing the acquisition is not yet finalised,
management is still in the progress of gathering accounting
information to determine the effect of business combination
on the consolidated financial statements.

The new JV company will engage in the sales distribution
of natural gas, design of gas pipeline and related
maintenance in the Yanliang District, Xian, Shaanxi province,
the PRC. Details of the term of the Agreement was set out
in the circular dated 3 July 2006 issued by the Company.

On 18 July 2006, the Group entered an agreement with
Tong Xin Energy whereby the parties agreed to form a Joint
Venture Company in Huaihua City of Hunan province in
the PRC. The registered capital of the Joint Vienture Company
is RMB18,180,000 (approximately HK$17,650,485) of
which a 55% and a 45% equity interest will be held by the
Group and Tong Xin Energy respectively. After the formation
of the JV Company, it will principally engage in the business
of installation and supply of natural gas and the sell of
liquefied petroleum gas in Huaihua City of Hunan province
in the PRC.

Because the legal procedures of completing the acquisition
are not yet finalised, management is still in the progress of
gathering accounting information to determine the effect
of business combination on the consolidated financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFHBEHE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets,
liabilities and minority interests of the Group for the five financial years

ended 31 March 2006.

AEEE

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+—HILLEE

E_TTERF=-A=+—HILRE

MREEZEE  BERVBERER 2T
BEEMBLOT

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
—EEXRE —ZTTRF ZTTMFE —FTT=F =—TT-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RESULTS o BETT BT BT BT BT
Turnover =0 240,607 81,080 38,243 31,136 19,117
(Loss) profit B A Al
before tax (E18) (35,711) 27435 (9,024) (8,805) (10,874)
Tax TRk (19,400) (11,603) (135) — =
(Loss) profit for RNEESmF
the year (E18) (55,111) 15,832 (9,159) (8,805) (10,874)
Attributable to: F LA LS -
Equity holders of RNAFRER
the Company BB A (56,061) 15,336 (9,132) (8,760) (10,860)
Minority interests DERR R 950 496 7) (45) (14)
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
—EEXRE —TTRHF ZTTMF —ZTT=F ZTT=F
ASSETS, LIABILITIES  &E  BER HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AND MINORITY DERER
INTERESTS TEas BET T BT BT BT T BT
Total assets BERE 496,268 260,351 72,053 17274 22,459
Total liabilities BEEE (219,080) (92,952) (38,711) (20,420) (16,803)
Net assets (liabilities) & (BE) F5 277,188 167,399 33,342 (3,146) 5,656
Minority interests DB R (4,713) (1,834) (274) (683) (728)
Note 1: The results of the year ended 31 March 2002, 2003 and 2004 KiaEr - AR BN AR AT B S TSRS 2ER

BYSHBOREBEK 2 EMBIBE
—ETF . _TE=FR_TTNF=
A=1+—HIERFEZEE -

have not been restated for the effect of the changes to the Group's
accounting policies for the adoption of the new HKFRSs.
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CHINESE PEOPLE GAS HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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